
Wellbeing Board

Date: Tuesday 8 March 2022

Time: 10.00 am Public meeting Yes

Venue: This meeting is being held entirely by video conference facilities

Membership
Councillor Izzi Seccombe (Chair) Portfolio Lead for Wellbeing
Councillor Paulette Hamilton (Vice-Chair) Birmingham City Council
Mark Axcell Black Country ICS
Councillor Nicolas Barlow Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Margaret Bell Wariwckshire County Council
Councillor Kamran Caan Coventry City Council
Councillor Stephen Craddock Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Karen Grinsell Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Julian Gutteridge Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council
Councilor Suzanne Hartwell Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Sue Ibbotson Office for Health Improvement and Disparities
Councillor Jasbir Jaspal City of Wolverhampton Council
Sarah Marwick GP Representative
Sean Russell Universities West Midlands (Coventry)
Dr Will Taylor Birmingham and Solihull ICS
Mike Wade NHS England and Improvement / Office for 

Health Improvement and Disparities
Pete Wilson West Midlands Fire Service
Karen Wright Association of Directors of Public Health

Quorum for this meeting shall be seven members.

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact:

Contact Craig Evans, Governance Services Officer
Telephone 07584 009024
Email craig.evans@wmca.org.uk

Public Document Pack



Agenda
Page 2 of 2

AGENDA
No. Item Presenting Pages

1.  Apologies for Absence Chair None

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of the need to declare 
any disclosable pecuniary interests they have in 
an item being discussed during the course of the 
item being discussed during the course of the 
meeting. In addition, the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality should be declared where the value of 
it was thought to have exceeded £25 (gifts) or 
£40 (hospitality)

None

3.  Chair's Remarks (if any) Chair None

4.  Matters Arising Chair None

5.  Minutes of the last meeting Chair 1 - 6

6.  Levelling Up the United Kingdom.  The Levelling 
Up White Paper, Health and Wellbeing 
Opportunities

Mubasshir Ajaz / 
Stacey Gunther

7 - 16

7.  Revisiting Health of the Region Report - Draft 
Report

Tatum Matharu / 
Mubasshir Ajaz

17 - 68

8.  Wellbeing Programmes Update
a) Overall Update
b) Thrive at Work in focus

Mubasshir Ajaz / Jed 
Francique

69 - 84

9.  Forward Plan Chair None

10.  Any Other Business Chair None



Page 1 of 5

Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 18 January 2022 at 10.00 am

Minutes

Present
Councillor Izzi Seccombe (Chair) Portfolio Lead for Wellbeing
Councillor Paulette Hamilton (Vice-Chair) Birmingham City Council
Councillor Nicolas Barlow Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Margaret Bell Warwickshire County Council
Guy Daly Universities West Midlands (Coventry)
Councillor Karen Grinsell Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Julian Gutteridge Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council
Councillor Suzanne Hartwell Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Jasbir Jaspal City of Wolverhampton Council
Dr Will Taylor Birmingham and Solihull ICS

In Attendance
Lola Abudu Department for Health and Social Care
Angela Aitken Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Mubasshir Ajaz West Midlands Combined Authority
Mark Axcell Black Country ICS
Lynne Bowers The Health Creation Alliance
Ruth Burgess West Midlands Combined Authority
Ed Cox West Midlands Combined Authority
John Denley City of Wolverhampton Council
Jed Francique West Midlands Combined Authority
Madeleine Freewood City of Wolverhampton Council
Stacey Gunther West Midlands Combined Authority
Simon Hall West Midlands Combined Authority
Anita Hallbrook West Midlands Combined Authority
David Harris Transport for West Midlands
Jacqueline Homan West Midlands Combined Authority
Matthew Ling West Midlands Fire Service
Tatum Matharu West Midlands Combined Authority
Paul Maubach Black Country ICS
Aqeel Rizvi West Midlands Combined Authority
Grace Scrivens West Midlands Combined Authority
Craig Talbot West Midlands Combined Authority
Mike Wade NHS England and Improvement / Office 

for Health Improvement and Disparities

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 5

Item
No.

Title

44.  Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Kamran Caan, 
Councillor Stephen Craddock, Andy Hardy, Sue Ibbotson and Pete Wilson.

45.  Nomination of Substitutes
Mark Wade for Sue Ibbotson and Matthew Ling for Pete Wilson.

46.  Minutes - 19 October 2021
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 October 2021 were agreed as a 
correct record, subject to an amendment of Guy Daly’s title from NHS to 
Universities West Midlands (Coventry). 

47.  Chair's  Remarks
The Chair thanked Professor Guy Daly and Paul Maubach for their 
contributions and work in health and social care on the Wellbeing Board as 
the meeting would be their last due to moving on to other roles.

The Chair welcomed Mark Axcell, The Black Country and West Birmingham 
Integrated Care System to his first meeting of the Wellbeing Board.    

48.  Revisiting the Health of the Region Report
The board considered a presentation from the Strategic Lead for Thrive & 
Health Inequalities, on the Health of the Region report first published in 
November 2020, providing an update on the data obtained and timeline in 
work uploading on to the data hub.  There were three aspects of the report 
for the board to consider; The Health of the Region report, the dynamic data 
hub to run alongside the Health of the Region report and the governance 
structure. 
           
Councillor Paulette Hamilton queried the overall governance structure in 
understanding the purpose of the roundtable and core groups, who the 
members would be, what would be discussed at these meetings and how 
that fed-back to the Wellbeing Board.

Resolved: 

(1) The Wellbeing Board receive further clarity on the roundtable and core 
groups in obtaining a greater understanding on the governance structure 
in how the two groups fed-back to the board.

49.  Community Green Grants
The board received a presentation from the Community Green Grants 
Project Officer, who gave a presentation to update the Wellbeing Board on 
the Community Green Grants programme being led by the WMCA 
Environment Team.  The grants aim would be to reduce green deprivation, 
tackle barriers in access to green spaces, connect communities with nature 
and enhance biodiversity, due to recognising that green spaces had made a 
positive impact to people’s lives, particularly during the start of the pandemic 
and lockdowns. 

Page 2



Page 3 of 5

Councillor Karen Grinsell enquired as to the ease of the application form for 
completion, whether the grants were limited to only constituted groups rather 
than un-constituted groups who may not have a bank account to apply, as 
well as whether the grants would be available and to connect in with primary 
care networks who may be located close to a green space to be developed.  
The Community Green Grants Project Officer concluded that un-constituted 
groups linking in with constituted groups would be able to apply and the 
application process was relatively short, with a wealth of support available for 
completion of the form, as well as an upcoming webinar and numerous 
workshops planned.

Resolved:

(1) The Community Green Grants and the timeframe for implementation be 
noted.

(2) The synergies with work in wellbeing that could support the Community 
Green Grants, in terms of outcomes and process be noted.

50.  WMCA Health in All Policies (HiAP) Approach
The board received a presentation from the Public Health Programme 
Manager, on building upon the WMCA’s plan and approach to take forward 
the agreed wellbeing priorities across areas of responsibilities, including 
transport, housing, skills, energy and the environment to recognise the link 
between health and wealth, region productivity, economic growth and health 
and wellbeing in tandem.  The report built upon the WMCA’s mandate for 
health inequalities in the Health of the Region report and the direction agreed 
at the October Wellbeing Board meeting. 

The board discussed the importance of transport infrastructure within the 
HiAP Approach in accessibility and safety, particularly for cycle routes, as 
well as recognising general cultural shifts and encouraging behavioural 
changes in adopting safer and healthier travel options to drive and deliver 
change between health and transport.    

Resolved:

(1) The proposed WMCA Health in All Policies (HiAP) model to act on health 
inequalities through its devolved responsibilities across the wider 
determinants of health be approved.

(2) The support and guidance to refine the model and actions taken which 
would ensure the greatest impact be noted.

Page 3



Page 4 of 5

51.  Wellbeing Programmes Update
a) Wellbeing Annual Performance and Forward Planning
The board received a verbal update from the Head of Wellbeing and 
Prevention, on the progress to date against the 2021/22 deliverables. 

Resolved:

(1) The progress against the 2021/22 High Level Deliverables to date be 
noted.

(2) Those areas which the board wished to receive a more detailed report on 
progress and activity be noted.

b) Conveying a new Mental Health Commission Update
The board received a verbal update from the Mental Health Prevention 
Strategic Lead, on the progress in convening a new Mental Health 
Commission to support an aspirational strategy for a mentally and healthier 
region. 

The focus of the Mental Health Commission’s work would be aimed at the 
implications of children and young people, woman and girls, male mental 
health and suicidal rates, as well as racial differentials.  

The Chair queried about the impact of mental health in sexual choice as not 
being noted as part of the Commission’s work.  The Mental Health 
Prevention Strategic Lead agreed and said although the Commission would 
choose its focus of work, sexual choice and orientation warranted further 
consideration due to a contributing factor in mental health issues.   

Resolved:

(1) The updated plans in respect of convening a new Mental Health 
Commission, as set out in the paper be endorsed.

c) Individual Placement Support Thrive into Work
The board received a verbal update from the Strategy and Delivery Lead, on 
an update on the work that was taking place, future funding intentions of 
government and outline of the proposed governance arrangements of the 
Thrive into Work Individual Placement Support (IPS).

It was noted by the Board that the IPS positively impacted and changed lives 
of people.    

Resolved:

(1) The progress of the IPS Programme be noted.

(2) The IPS programme funding position be noted.

(3) The proposed governance arrangements for the IPS Programme be 
noted.

Page 4



Page 5 of 5

52.  Forward Plan - items for next meeting on 8 March
The Chair noted the forward plan had not been received in advance of the 
meeting. 

The meeting ended at 12.00 pm.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 
 

Wellbeing Board 
 

Date 

 

22nd February 2022 

Report title 

 

Levelling Up the United Kingdom.  The Levelling Up 

White Paper, Health and Wellbeing Opportunities 

Portfolio Lead 

 

Izzi Seccombe, Wellbeing Portfolio Holder and Chair 

Accountable Chief 

Executive 

 

Laura Shoaf, Chief Executive, West Midlands 

Combined Authority 

 

Accountable 

Employees 

 

Stacey Gunther, Health and Wellbeing Programme 

Manager, Office for Health Improvement and 

Disparities/WMCA 

 

 

Report has been 

considered by 

 

Ed Cox, Director, Inclusive Growth and Public 

Service Reform  

Mubasshir Ajaz, Head of Wellbeing and Prevention 

 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision: 
 
Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 
1.  To consider the opportunities within the Levelling Up White Paper for WMCA, WMCA 

health and wellbeing priorities and the Wellbeing Board 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 The term Levelling Up was initially introduced pre the Covid-19 pandemic, following this 

£4 billion was announced via the Levelling Up Fund in the November 2020 spending 
review, other funding has since been earmarked.  The Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government then evolved to the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities in September 2021 and on 2nd February 2022, published the 
Levelling Up the United Kingdom White Paper1. 

 
1.2 The timeline provides an overview of the development of the Levelling Up White Paper.  

The funding and Levelling Up White Paper have developed during the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

 
 
 
 

 
1 Levelling Up the United Kingdom - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-the-united-kingdom


 
 

2. Levelling Up the United Kingdom White Paper overview 
2.1 The Levelling Up White Paper is intended to tackle the stark geographical inequality in 

the UK and focuses on economic between and within area data.  It is founded on the 
principle that to achieve this the programme will need to be broad, deep, and long-term.  
It provides significant critique of failure of past policies and recognises that the 
centralised nature of decision-making has hampered past efforts to level up.   

 
2.2 The paper defines six ‘capitals’ that will drive levelling up:  

• Physical capital 

• Human capital 

• Intangible capital 

• Financial capital 

• Social capital 

• Institutional capital  
 
2.3 The White Paper introduces five mutually reinforcing pillars that are designed to 

mitigate against issues identified in policy.  The five pillars are: 
 

• A mission-oriented approach to setting policy.  Twelve missions mapped 
to four overarching objectives are set out in section 2.6. 

• A reorientation of central government decision making to align policies 
with the levelling up agenda and hardwire spatial considerations across 
Whitehall 

• Greater empowerment of local government decision-making by giving 
leaders and businesses the resources that they need 

• A revolution in data, evaluation, and transparency at the sub national level 
to make local decision-making better.  The Office for National Statistics 
Subnational Data Strategy aims to improve the UK’s subnational data, 
mapping local economies geographies and helping improve transparency 
to the public 

• Enhanced transparency and accountability of this new for example 
creating a duty to publish an annual report which will analyse progress and 
a new Levelling Up Advisory Council 

 
2.4 The paper includes twelve ambitious medium-term missions which aim to provide 

consistency and clarity over levelling up policy objectives.  Their inclusion provides an 
anchor for policy across government and a catalyst for innovation and action by the 
private and civil society sectors for example Combined Authorities and Local 
Government.  The missions are deliberately ambitious and will require collaborative 
work.  It is intended that progress will be reviewed annually by the UK Government. 

 
2.5 The twelve missions have been aligned to four objectives and are split by focus area: 

• Objective 1: Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the 
private sector, especially in those places where they are lagging.  Focus areas 
are living standards, research and development, transport and infrastructure, 
digital connectivity.  

Page 8



 
 

• Objective 2: Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in 
those places where they are the weakest.  Focus areas include education, skills, 
health, and wellbeing.  

• Objective 3: Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially 
in those places where they have been lost.  Focus areas include pride in place, 
housing, and crime. 

• Objective 4: Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places 
lacking local agency.  The key focus area within this theme is local leadership.  

 
2.6 The table below details the four objectives and twelve focus areas and missions. 

 

12 Levelling Up Missions  

Focus Area Mission 

Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private sector, 
especially in those places where they are lagging 

Living Standards By 2030, pay, employment and productivity will have risen in 
every area of the UK, with each region containing a globally 
competitive city, and the gap between the top performing and 
other areas closing 

Research and 
Development 
(R&D) 

By 2030, domestic public investment in (R&D) outside the 
Greater South East will increase by at least 40% and over the 
Spending Review period by at least one third.  This additional 
government funding will seek to leverage at least twice as 
much private sector investment over the long term to 
stimulate innovation and productivity growth. 

Transport 
Infrastructure 

By 2030, local public transport connectivity across the country 
will be significantly closer to the standards of London, with 
improved services, simpler fares, and integrated ticketing. 

Digital Connectivity By 2030, the UK will have nationwide gigabit-capable 
broadband and 4G coverage, with 5G coverage for the 
majority of the population 

Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in those places where 
they are weakest 

Education By 2030, the number of primary school children achieving the 
expected standard in reading, writing and maths will have 
significantly increase.  In England, this will mean 90% of 
children will achieve the expected standard, and the 
percentage of children meeting the expected standard in the 
worst performing areas will have increased by over a third. 

Skills By 2030, the number of people successfully completing high-
quality skills training will have significantly increased in every 
areas of the UK.  In England, this will lead to 200,000 more 
people successfully completing high-quality skills training 
annually, driven by 80,000 more people completing courses 
in the lowest skilled areas. 

Health By 2030, the gap in Healthy Life Expectancy (HLE) between 
local areas where it is highest and lowest will have narrowed, 
and by 2035, HLE will rise by five years. 

Page 9



 
 

Well-being By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the 
UK, with the gap between top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in those 
places where they have been lost 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with 
their town centre and engagement in local culture and 
community, will have risen in every area of the UK with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Housing By 2030, renters will have a secure path to ownership with 
the number of first-time buyers increasing in all areas; and the 
government’s ambition is for the number of non-decent rented 
homes to have fallen by 50% with the biggest improvements 
in the lowest performing areas2. 

Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violent and neighbourhood crime 
will have fallen, focused on the worst affected areas. 

Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places lacking local 
agency 

Local Leadership By 2030, every part of England that wants one will have a 
devolution deal with powers at or approaching the highest 
level of devolution and a simplified, long-term funding 
settlement.  

 
 
3 WMCA opportunity 
3.1 The Levelling Up White Paper makes provision for the new framework to extend, 

deepen and simplify local devolution in England.  This creates opportunity for every part 
of England to have some form of Mayoral Combined Authority if desired. 

 
3.2 WMCA has been identified to be at the forefront of devolution and a model for other 

Mayoral Combined.  WMCA is recognised as a trailblazer and is able to negotiate 
deeper devolution deal alongside Greater Manchester Combined Authority.  These 
devolution deals will act as a blueprint for other Mayoral Combined Authorities. 

 
3.3 Many of WMCA’s devolution asks have not been addressed in the twelve missions 

detailed in 2.6 above.  The opportunity presented as a trailblazer Combined Authority 
means that WMCA can now enter a process of negotiation for new areas of 
responsibility.  

 
3.4 The White Paper details multiple spending and policy commitments.  Many have 

already been announced as part of the comprehensive spending review, however, the 
white paper provides further detail.  Many of the headline commitments link to the 
health and wellbeing agenda via the wider determinants of health.  There are several 
notable additions of direct relevance to WMCA, the opportunities around smart city 
regions and health devolution. 

 

 
2 Government will consult on the impact on the private rented market and particularly those on the lowest incomes. 
Further detail will be set out once the review of the Decent Homes Standard has concluded. 

Page 10



 
 

 3.4.1 Smart City Region 
The creation of a special purpose vehicle (SPV) that brings together the public 
sector, a range of private sector players and the region’s leading research 
institutions.  The SPV will be led by the Mayor.  The Government welcomes the 
innovative partnership approach being taken by WMCA and will provide the 
necessary financial pump prime funding to support the proposal as part of the 
deeper devolution deal process.  This programme will be developed by partners 
across the region for discussion through the Deepening Devolution Process to 
draw together digital opportunities across: 

• Scaling-up health tech, future mobility, and smart energy programmes 

• Practical business support for digital start-ups and a supply of patient 
venture capital to attract global innovators. 

 
 3.4.2 Health 

There is opportunity to explore more health duties for Mayoral Combined 
Authorities (MCA) to improve the health of their residents.  Such an opportunity 
could enable health to be proactively considered as part of key strategies and 
investments. However, we need to clarify what this opportunity or health 
responsibility will look like, will depend on the local and regional health care 
system and its interactions with the relevant MCA. 

 
4. Opportunities for health and wellbeing 
4.1 The Levelling Up White Paper brings significant opportunity for public health across the 

WMCA region.  The inclusion of missions both directly and indirectly related to the 
improvement of health are extremely positive for the region.  The notable commitments 
to improve healthy life expectancy and reduce inequality in healthy life expectancy as 
well as to improve wellbeing are key and chime with local strategy and the WMCA 
Wellbeing Priorities. 

 
4.2 Within each mission there are policies identified, it is worth noting that the policies 

included are not necessarily new policies.   
 
4.2.1 For mission 7, Health, the policies identified are: 

• Adding to the core health manifesto by upgrading hospital buildings, improved 
access to GP appointments and preventing up to 150,000 cases of 
cardiovascular disease a year 

• Public Health Grant to be maintained in real terms, as of the 2021 spending 
review 

• Implementation of Long-Term Plan, including social prescribing, with the 
intention to refer 900,000 people by 2023-24 

• Implementation of Drugs Strategy 

• White Paper on Health Disparities due 2022 

• Tobacco Control Plan for England due 2022 

• Better Health: Rewards Piloting a health incentives scheme in Wolverhampton. 

• Improving inequalities in screening uptake 

• Considering the future of the NHS Health Check programme, and strengthening 
the prevention offer within the NHS Health Check programme 

Page 11



 
 

• Food Strategy White Paper (forthcoming) – to include implementing 
recommendations from Henry Dimbleby review – including pilot with local 
authorities on school food standards, cooking education in schools, ‘Community 
Eatwell programme’ – pilot where GPs can prescribe fruit/vegetable, food 
education/social support 

• 100 Community Diagnostic Centres to be established in England by 2025, most 
outside of London/South East.  Leading to an additional eight million tests each 
year, and providing 23,000 years of improved quality of life 

 
4.3 For mission 8, Wellbeing, the policies are still to be defined, the Disparities White 

Paper, due to be published later in 2022, is expected to provide further clarity for this 
mission.  It is understood that the White Paper will focus on prevention of disparities by 
ethnicity, socioeconomic background and geography. 

 
4.4 The other missions all contain challenges and policies that contribute to the wider 

determinants of health with policy suggestions across transport, housing, and crime.  
For example: 

• Mission 3, Transport Infrastructure:  
- Bus/active travel funding (pre-existing, including City Region Sustainable 

Transport Settlement of £1.05bn to WMCA) 
 

• Mission 10, Housing:  
- £1.8bn for brownfield/infrastructure for up to 160,000 homes (SR21), with 

most outside London/South East.   
- Affordable Homes Programme – up to 180,000 affordable homes – 3/4 

outside London.   
- Homes England to have ‘wider role in supporting mayors and local 

authorities to realise their ambitions for new affordable housing and 
regeneration in their areas’ Homelessness - £2bn (already committed) – 
commitment to end rough sleeping. Work on the ‘root causes’ of 
homelessness 

 

• Mission 11 crime:  
- Drugs Strategy, published in December 2021 to deliver on key 

recommendations from the Dame Carol Black review 
 
4.5 The commitment to drive health research investment from London, Oxford and 

Cambridge is outlined in mission 2 and will be positive for the WMCE region: 

• Mission 2, Research and Development:  
- Driving investment from the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) 

outside of London, Oxford and Cambridge and increasing patient 
recruitment in underserved communities. 

 
4.6 Alongside the missions detailed above it is of note that Integrated Care Systems also 

make an important contribution to local social and economic development within the 
wider context of the Levelling up White Paper. 

 

Page 12



 
 

5. Opportunities for WMCA Wellbeing and Prevention Team and the Wellbeing 
Board 

  
5.1 The WMCA Wellbeing and Prevention Team have built strong foundations by working to 

create narrative, unlocking opportunity within existing devolved responsibilities across 

the wider determinants of health to create a platform for a coherent regional health 

inequalities voice.   

5.2 The Health of the Region Report, 2020, detailed a health inequalities mandate for 

WMCA, setting out a role for WMCA in addressing health inequalities at a regional level.  

Following the agreed health inequalities mandate, WMCA have increased system wide 

involvement of the Wellbeing Board and defined the Wellbeing Board priorities. 

5.3 The Wellbeing Board priorities create a natural fit to opportunities identified within the 

levelling up white paper; the priorities defined as: 

• Using WMCA’s core functions to galvanise action to ensure all economic 

investment in the region supports better health outcomes 

• Work with partners to attract funding from government and provide a regional 

voice on health inequalities 

• Work with partners to maximise the economic opportunities created by the West 

Midlands health and care economy 

• Champion specific issues and deliver grant-funded programmes where there is 

the clear support of the Combined Authority and its partners to do so 

5.4 Research from the Combined Authorities Cities Inequalities Programme highlights that 
regional level support and influence on health and wellbeing priorities and convening 
and leadership from an elected mayor are advantageous for the system.  This 
combined with WMCA progress to date creates significant opportunity for the region. 

 
5.5 As mentioned above, the opportunity for MCA’s to play a larger role in the health 

outcomes of its citizens could include devolution of health responsibilities. The WMCA 
has the unique opportunity to support the local health and care system, given its 
nomination as one of two MCA’s that can negotiate a trailblazing devolution deal. It will 
require engagement with the system partners to give shape to this potential ask, to 
ensure maximum benefit for our citizens. 

 
5.6 In summary, the Levelling Up White Paper provides opportunity for the WMCA to build 

on the foundations in place to continue to galvanise action around the identified and 
agreed Wellbeing Priorities and to seek opportunity to create a collective narrative and 
regional voice to the benefit of the health and wellbeing (health and prevention – 
language) system. 

 
6. Next steps 
 
6.1 Work across the system, including key partners at OHID, Local Authority DsPH, NHSE/I 

and the three ICS’s, to help define for West Midlands the duties to improve the health of 
citizens, mentioned within the Levelling Up White Paper. 

 

Page 13



 
 

6.2 Initiate work on the trailblazer devolution deal for health, with initial steps expected to 
include: 

• Scoping possibilities, building on the HiAP work under way aligning the existing 
devolved responsibilities across the wider determinants of health to outcomes 
and metrics, aligning where additional responsibilities may add the greatest value 

• Stakeholder engagement, the team welcome input from Wellbeing Board 
members and/or the organisations they represent in addition to input at events.  
Event details will be circulated to all Board members once confirmed. 

 
6.3 To explore opportunities created by the Smart City Region, initially working to identify 

additionality and then via engagement with key partners. 
 
6.4 To explore further at the Health Foundation funded West Midlands Levelling Up 

workshop. 
 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 Currently there are no financial implications for the WMCA as initial scoping and 

development work will be funded through existing WMCA budgets.  
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
7.1 There are no additional legal implications at present. 
 
8. Equalities Implications  
 
8.1 The paper provides an overview of the Levelling Up White Paper, whilst there are 

equality implications to the work of WMCA around the White Paper, these will be fully 
considered at policy and programme development stage.  The work of the Wellbeing 
and Prevention Team and the Wellbeing board will continue to maintain a focus on 
reducing health inequalities.  In line with the Health in All Policy approach previously 
agreed the Health Equity Assessment Tool will be applied and Equality Impact 
Assessments carried out as a matter of course during the development and 
implementation phases. 

 
9. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
9.1 At a strategic level, the Inclusive Growth Framework – containing the eight fundamentals of 
 inclusive growth - articulates the region’s vision for what good looks like for levelling up. As 
 such, this will have to be used to frame the baseline, monitoring and evaluation of any new 
 activity, in a way which ensures local and regional leadership is recognised alongside national 
 leadership.  

However, the focus of this paper is aligned with the remit of the Wellbeing Board and therefore 
most closely relates to the Health and Wellbeing fundamental of inclusive growth – the headline 
outcome of which is reducing inequality in healthy life expectancy. The Levelling Up White Paper 
and Trailblazer Devolution Deal discussions are an opportunity to create space to intervene 
across the wider determinants of health, informed by a Health in All Policies approach. 
Specifically, the Smart City Region and the devolution of health powers could create clear 
opportunities to explore in partnership. 

 

Page 14



 
 

10. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications 
 

10.1 The implications and opportunities within the Levelling Up White Paper will be 
considered across the WMCA geographical footprint. 

 
11. Schedule of Background Papers 
 

WMCA Board Report Pack Tuesday 18th January 2022: Health in All Policy 
HiAP WB Board.pdf (wmca.org.uk) 

 
WMCA Board Report Pack, Tuesday 19th October 2022: Wellbeing Priorities 
Report.pdf (wmca.org.uk) 

 
WMCA Board Report Pack Friday 16th October 2020: Health of the Region Report 
Agenda for Wellbeing Board on Friday 16th October 2020, 10.00 am :WMCA 
WB_RHIC Discussion.pdf (wmca.org.uk) 

 
 
9.  Appendices 
 

N/A 
 
 
 

Page 15

https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s6425/HiAP%20WB%20Board.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s6091/Report.pdf
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=139&MId=383&Ver=4
https://governance.wmca.org.uk/documents/s4737/WB_RHIC%20Discussion.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 
WMCA Wellbeing Board 

 

Date 

 

8th March 2022 

Report title 

 

Revisiting the Health of the Region (report) 

Portfolio Lead 

 

Cllr Izzi Seccombe, Wellbeing Board Chair 

 

Accountable Chief 

Executive 

 

Laura Shoaf, Interim Chief Executive 

laura.shoaf@wmca.org.uk  

Accountable 

Employee 

 

Tatum Matharu, Strategic Lead for Thrive and 

Health Inequalities 

tatum.matharu@wmca.org.uk 

 

Report has been 

considered by 

 

Mubasshir Ajaz, Head of Wellbeing & Prevention 

Mubasshir.ajaz@wmca.org.uk  

Ed Cox, Director for Inclusive Growth and Public 

Service Reform 

Ed.cox@wmca.org.uk  

 

 

Recommendation(s) for action and decision: 
 
The Wellbeing Board is asked to: 

review the attached draft report; and  
approve the draft for completion and publication.  

 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 At its last meeting (January 2022), the Wellbeing Board was presented with plans to 

revisit the Health of the Region report.   
1.2 This paper presents the report draft that has since been produced and welcomes input 

following Board Members’ review of the draft.  
1.3 Subject to revisions, the Wellbeing Board is asked to approve completion and 

publication of the report.  
1.4 Progress on the HOTR Data Hub, to be launched with the report, is also presented.  

Page 17

Agenda Item 7

mailto:laura.shoaf@wmca.org.uk
mailto:tatum.matharu@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Mubasshir.ajaz@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Ed.cox@wmca.org.uk


 

2 
 

 
 
 

 
2. Revisiting the Health of the Region (draft report) 
 
2.1  As proposed at the previous Wellbeing Board meeting (January 2022), we have produced 

an interim report on the Health of the Region, focused on celebrating the progress made 
on commitments to action and other successes since the publication of the previous 
HOTR report (in November 2020).  

2.2 Whilst there were initial plans for this to be an annual report, the pace of change in this 
space (given the scale of the challenge) means that an annual comprehensive audit and 
full data report is not the most helpful product at this stage. Instead, an update on 
progress against the 50 commitments made, and successes beyond those commitments, 
as well as the evolving nature of the picture is put forward as ‘Revisiting the Health of the 
Region’. This rationale is made clear within the report.  

2.3 To note, as proposed at the last Wellbeing Board meeting, we will then move into a three-
year cycle for the main HOTR report, with an interim at 18 months (following the rationale 
and the pattern and now set). The next HOTR report is therefore due in November 2023. 

2.4 Comments from the Wellbeing Board on all aspects of the HOTR report are welcome.  
2.5 Unless substantive revisions are required, the Wellbeing Board is asked for approval to 

complete and publish the report.  
2.6 Completion includes minor revisions from the Wellbeing Board; an appendix that provides 

a brief line on progress against each commitment; a complete reference list; and front 
materials (a foreword, acknowledgements and executive summary). We will then work 
with our design team on the final layout with images.  

 
 
3.  HOTR Data Hub (launch) 
 
3.1  As presented at the last Wellbeing Board meeting, ‘Revisiting the Health of the Region’ 

is a package, with an HOTR Data Hub being launched alongside the report.  
3.2 The HOTR Data Hub is an online space, hosted by the WMCA, that enables users to 

have quick access to the indicators included in the original HOTR report with updated 
data.  

3.3 Having moved on from the proof of concept, we are now presenting the minimal viable 
product – essentially an online version of the data report.  

3.4 We will continue to develop this product, working with stakeholders to ensure maximum 
utility. The ambition is to develop a primarily visual and interactive tool that aids 
comprehension of the relevant datasets, with a particular focus on the wider determinants 
of health and the cumulative impact of these at various intersections, as experienced in 
reality by residents in the WMCA area. 

 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1 There are no additional legal implications at this stage. We continue to be mindful of legal 

implications around data with regards to the ongoing development of the HOTR Data 
Hub.   

 
5. Equalities Implications 
 

Page 18



 

3 
 

5.1 There are no additional equalities implications at this stage. We continue to be mindful of 
equalities implications around digital access with regards to the ongoing development of 
the HOTR Data Hub.   

  
 
6 Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
6.1 There are no new inclusive growth implications associated with this work, as it is a 

reflection of progress on activity already underway. However, the success of the work 
undertaken by the WMCA and its partners is critical to realising inclusive growth – 
reducing health inequalities is the headline outcome of the Health & Wellbeing 
fundamental of the Inclusive Growth Framework. The latest Marmot report and the 
original Health of the Region report highlighted that this trajectory is currently negative, 
with health disparities worsening. As such, this analysis needs to be kept in sight for other 
areas of delivery for WMCA and its partners, to ensure that all opportunities to improve 
health for key people and population groups are realised. 

   
 
7. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications 
 
7.1 There are no additional geographical implications at this stage.  
 
8. Other Implications 
 
8.1 None. 
 
9. Schedule of Background Papers 
 
9.1 Revisiting the Health of the Region (draft report)  
 
 

  

Page 19

https://wmcanet.sharepoint.com/:w:/s/psr-HealthInequalitiesTeam/ERGQLtoaP3JOpgw4KylR0pUBHekBS4OLQwVUmjdGYzQI6A?e=E7fUPh


This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

Page 1 of 47 
 

 

REVISITING THE HEALTH OF THE REGION  

 

Chapter 1: Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 3 

Chapter 2: A Snapshot of the Scene Since HOTR 2020 ........................................................................... 5 

2.1. The roll-out of vaccines ................................................................................................................ 5 

2.2. The continued impact of Covid-19 ............................................................................................. 14 

General trends in mental health ................................................................................................... 14 

The impacts of wider determinants on mental health ................................................................. 15 

2.3. The institutional landscape ........................................................................................................ 17 

Chapter 3: Celebrating our partners’ successes Good practice from across the Region[?] ................. 20 

3.1. Aston University: Demonstrating the role that universities can play ........................................ 20 

3.2. The WM Police and Crime Commissioner: Policing and tackling health inequalities ................ 21 

3.3. The Ethnic Minority Council: Local infrastructure and equalities organisations in community-

centred approaches .......................................................................................................................... 22 

3.4. Cysters: Specialist support from grassroots organisations in community-centred approaches 23 

3.5. West Bromwich African Caribbean Resource Centre: Hearing voices of local communities in 

community-centred approaches ....................................................................................................... 24 

3.6. The role of NHS in tackling health inequalities .......................................................................... 25 

The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust: Using workforce and service development to tackle 

health inequalities......................................................................................................................... 25 

University Hospitals Birmingham Trust: Using digital transformation to tackle health inequalities

 ...................................................................................................................................................... 26 

Chapter 4: Local Authorities: The Nexus of Community ....................................................................... 27 

4.1. Birmingham City Council: Authentic Conversations During Covid ............................................ 27 

4.2. Coventry City Council: Community engagement the Coventry way .......................................... 28 

4.3. Dudley MBC: Supporting Dudley residents to isolate ................................................................ 29 

4.4. Sandwell MBC: Creating an army of vaccine advocates ............................................................ 30 

4.5. Solihull MBC: Community outreach in Solihull .......................................................................... 30 

4.6. Walsall MBC: Making Connections – A community centred approach ..................................... 31 

4.7. Wolverhampton: Wolverhampton’s Local Support System ...................................................... 31 

Chapter 5: Maximising the WMCA’s Leverage on the Wider Determinants ........................................ 33 

5.1. Transport and active travel ........................................................................................................ 34 

5.2. Housing and homelessness ........................................................................................................ 37 

Zero Carbon Homes Charter ......................................................................................................... 37 

Commitment to Collaborate to Prevent and Relieve Homelessness ............................................ 39 

Page 21



   
 

Page 2 of 47 
 

5.3. Skills and employment ............................................................................................................... 40 

5.4. Energy and environment............................................................................................................ 43 

Chapter 6: HOTR Data Hub to Support Our Next Steps ........................................................................ 45 

Chapter 7: Conclusion ........................................................................................................................... 47 

 

 

  

Page 22



   
 

Page 3 of 47 
 

Chapter 1: Introduction 
The first Health of the Region (HOTR) report, published in November 2020, highlighted persistent 
and widening health inequalities within the WMCA region, and set us out on a journey of recovery 
intent on tackling these health inequalities through four priority challenges set alongside a series of 
more than 50 commitments to action made by WMCA and its partners1. Collectively, our priorities 
were focused on:    
 

1. Improving outcomes for ethnic minority and vulnerable groups; 

2. Tackling the wider determinants of health; 

3. Widening access to health and care; and  

4. Enabling people-powered health.  

By articulating these challenges within a narrative that explicitly addressed the relationship between 

health and wealth, the HOTR 2020 report broke new ground for the Combined Authority and, 

together with its call to action, it facilitated a collective and committed approach to addressing and 

tackling health inequalities for the West Midlands region. This collaboration continues to be critical 

while it has become clear that we must learn to live with Covid-19, and we must do this in a 

changing institutional landscape and worsening context in terms of the day-to-day lives of our most 

vulnerable residents.  

This report provides an update. Health data changes slowly and so it seemed pointless simply 

rehearsing a picture that has changed so little. Instead, this report does four things. First, it provides 

an update on the many commitments that partners made in our last report, celebrating some of the 

successes through special case studies. Second, it considers the remarkable work of the public health 

teams in our partner local authorities and the impacts they’ve had with their local communities. 

Thirdly, it explores the benefits of adopting a ‘health-in-all-policies' (HIAP) approach. And finally, it 

unveils our new Health of the Region Data Hub. 

 

When the HOTR report was compiled in mid-2020, few would have imagined that we would be 

continuing to fight Covid-19 in its various guises 18 months later. We understood from experts in the 

field that we would be facing an increasing frequency of such transmissible diseases2 and would 

therefore need to improve our response and resilience to pandemics, but the duration and depth of 

Covid-19 through its several mutations, the multiple ‘lockdowns’ as well as the profound impacts on 

the economy and wider society were not yet broadly understood.   

This update to the 2020 report provides a reflective pause – an opportunity to take stock of the 

aspirations and actions, set against the evolving wider picture. Whilst there may be widespread 

recognition that the issues we are grappling with will potentially take decades to shift at scale, it is 

important to revisit the commitments made and share our collective and individual resilience and 

success in the face of the pandemic. Countless individuals from multiple organisations across the 

West Midlands have put extraordinary levels of energy into their response, resilience and recovery 

efforts, and this must be captured and celebrated. This report is singularly focused on celebrating 

 
1 A full list of updates against each commitment is included in the appendix.  
2 Infectious diseases, particularly those with transmissions from animals to humans I.e. Zoonoses, are thought 
to be increasing due to the impact of climate change (e.g. Gibb et al., 2020 
https://www.bmj.com/content/371/bmj.m3389; Rupasinghe et al., 2022 
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0001706X21004034; WHO, 2003 
https://www.who.int/globalchange/climate/en/chapter6.pdf)  

Page 23

https://www.bmj.com/content/371/bmj.m3389
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0001706X21004034
https://www.who.int/globalchange/climate/en/chapter6.pdf


   
 

Page 4 of 47 
 

these successes through case studies on the commitments that were made as well as highlighting 

how those commitments have been built on or adapted to changing needs and, indeed, how they 

have been exceeded in many ways, demonstrating some truly inspiring work in tackling demanding 

challenges. At this mid-point to the subsequent full edition of the HOTR report (planned for 2023), 

which we expect will include quantitative data that demonstrates the impact of Covid-19 on key 

health inequalities indicators, it is worthwhile in the interim to provide a snapshot of the current 

picture.  

Following a relatively brief update on the current management of Covid-19 and its impacts to date, 

the first substantive section of this report showcases both the breadth and the depth of the work 

undertaken by a whole range of partners across the health and care landscape, from statutory public 

bodies to community delivery partners. A selection of case studies updating progress made against 

specific commitments aligned to the challenges previously set bring some of the work of these 

organisations to life. This section also reflects some of the ways in which partners have worked 

beyond those initial commitments, responding to the evolving scene and growing need in the region.    

The following section moves the spotlight onto our local authority partners, whose public health 

teams have been at the frontline of dealing with wave after wave of Covid-19 variant and the 

impacts these have had on local communities. One of the key recommendations emerging from the 

influential PHE reports of 2020 which explored disparities in risks and outcomes of Covid-19 and the 

reasons behind the data, highlighted the importance of working in partnership with communities to 

tackle inequalities widening as a result of Covid-193￼. We also know that community-centred 

approaches are critical in tackling health inequalities￼. Their success stories therefore take centre 

stage, reflecting their crucial role in, for example, managing local lockdown messaging and tailoring 

vaccination uptake campaigns – the key tools of reducing the spread and potentially the severity of 

Covid-19. Our seven local authority public health teams also here demonstrate innovations and 

continued good practice in their ongoing and longer-term work in supporting local health and 

wellbeing.   

This report then presents updates from across the WMCA both against the commitments made and 

more widely on developments that have – or will eventually have – an impact on health outcomes. It 

reflects the renewed focus of the WMCA on the wider determinants of health and how, if we take a 

‘Health in All Policies’ (HiAP) approach, we can steer workstreams across the WMCA to address 

health inequalities and ultimately help to close the gaps in health outcomes. Using the leverage that 

the WMCA has on some of the wider determinants of health could contribute significantly to the 

‘levelling up’ agenda. Cumulatively, across its devolved responsibilities, the impact would be 

immeasurable. 

Finally, this issue of measurability briefly takes centre stage as we unveil the HOTR data hub – an 

online space with updates on all the indicators previously presented in HOTR 2020. Developing this 

data hub into a functional tool for maximum utility with our partners is now a priority for ensuring 

that we drive our collective efforts in the most impactful ways to tackle health inequalities.  

  

 
3 “Disparities in the risk and outcomes of COVID-19” (2020) PHE 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/908434/
Disparities_in_the_risk_and_outcomes_of_COVID_August_2020_update.pdf 

Page 24



   
 

Page 5 of 47 
 

Chapter 2: A Snapshot of the Scene Since HOTR 2020 
This snapshot provides a brief update of the overall context of Covid-19 (and related) since the 

publication of the HOTR 2020. It covers the introduction of the vaccine and the disparities that were 

again highlighted through roll-out of the national vaccine programme, followed by a focus on wider 

health issues – primarily mental health impacts – that have emerged over the duration of Covid-19 so 

far. Finally, in light of ongoing developments, we set out the evolution of the WMCA’s sharpened 

focus in the health and wellbeing system, against a backdrop of other changes in the wider 

institutional landscape.  

2.1. The roll-out of vaccines 
The single most significant development in the fight against Covid-19 transpired within weeks of the 

publication of the HOTR 2020 report and it happened here in our region. On 8th December 2020 at 

University Hospital Coventry, the first ever Covid-19 vaccine was administered outside of clinical trial 

conditions, marking the start of the national roll-out programme. To date4, approximately 9 in 10 

individuals aged 12 and over have been vaccinated with at least one dose (43,513,915 people; 90.0% 

of the population across England).  

Despite the huge successes of the vaccine programme, health and social inequalities have again 

been exposed and exacerbated. The roll-out was based on the advice of the Joint Committee on 

Vaccination and Immunisation (JCVI) which prioritised primarily by age group. Some called this 

approach into question, recommending instead an approach prioritised according to the risk of 

spread of infection such as in areas of deprivation where relatively crowded multi-generational 

households are not uncommon or in certain occupational groups where working on site and 

exposure to the virus is required5,6. In August 2020, our Interim Report exploring the West Midlands 

Health Impact of Covid-19 identified how the WMCA area has a slightly higher proportion of jobs 

within the health and social work sector (14%) compared with West Midlands Region (13.2%) or the 

national average (12.5%). Those in caring occupations have an increased health risk due to exposure 

to infection7.  These scenarios often intersect with reliance on public transport8. 

 These conditions correlate with being from a Black, Asian or minority ethnic background9and 

demonstrate what structural inequality, and structural racism, look like. It is multi-faceted and 

compounded across a life course, to impact upon several aspects of daily lived experience as more 

than a sum of its parts. Layer in generations of living in such conditions – and far worse – and we can 

begin to understand how layers of discrimination have solidified into deep and widespread – i.e. 

structural – inequalities.  The HOTR 2020 report made a strong case for take a systemic approach to 

tackling the wider determinants of health and dealing with the structural inequalities we find in our 

 
4 As of 13th February 2022 – latest available data https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wp-
content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/COVID-19-weekly-announced-vaccinations-17-February-2022.pdf  
5  “Beyond the data: Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on BAME groups” (2020) PHE 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/
COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf 
6 https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-01/The%20Covid-
19%20Vaccination%20Programme%20online%20version_3.pdf  
7 https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdfThe 
8 https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdf  
9 This is by no means an exact and exclusive correlation, particularly with regards to white minorities, but it is 
notable; OHID Midlands LKIS’ Disparity Report demonstrates that WM local authorities with the largest ethnic 
minority (excluding White minorities) populations have some of the highest levels of deprivation in the region. 

Page 25

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/COVID-19-weekly-announced-vaccinations-17-February-2022.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2022/02/COVID-19-weekly-announced-vaccinations-17-February-2022.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892376/COVID_stakeholder_engagement_synthesis_beyond_the_data.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-01/The%20Covid-19%20Vaccination%20Programme%20online%20version_3.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2022-01/The%20Covid-19%20Vaccination%20Programme%20online%20version_3.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdfThe
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdf


   
 

Page 6 of 47 
 

economy, housing market, education, justice and transport systems. This will not be a quick fix; it 

will require sustained systemic and regional effort.  

 

 

 

 

Page 26



   
 

Page 7 of 47 
 

Figure 1: Proportion of Ethnic Group Vaccinated for West Midlands Region, from January 2021 to November 2021 

 

Source: OHID CHIME https://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/chime/  

As of November 2021, 85% of adults in the West Midlands Region had received both their vaccinations. Figure 1 shows the proportion of double vaccinated 

population by five main ethnic groups in West Midlands region, from January 2021 to November 2021. We can see that vaccine uptake has increased for all 

five broad main ethnic groups over the period of January 2021 to November 2021. There is variation in vaccine uptake between White ethnic group and 

minority ethnic groups in West Midlands Region. Within the West Midlands region, the highest uptake has been amongst White British ethnic group 

between January 2021 and November 2021 and has been lowest in Mixed or multiple ethnic groups prior to August 2021. Black ethnic group was least likely 

to have the vaccination from September to November 2021. Differences in the vaccine uptake between adults of Asian or Asian British ethnic group and 

other ethnic groups have been narrow. Barriers to vaccine uptake include perception of risk, low confidence in the vaccine, distrust, access barriers, 

inconvenience, socio-demographic context and lack of endorsement, lack of vaccine offer or lack of communication from trusted providers and community 

0.00%

10.00%

20.00%

30.00%

40.00%

50.00%

60.00%

70.00%

80.00%

90.00%

100.00%

Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21

P
ro

p
o

rt
io

n
 o

f 
Et

h
n

ic
 G

ru
p

s 
V

ac
ci

n
at

ed
  

Month

Asian or Asian British Black, Black British, Caribbean or African Mixed or multiple ethnic groups Other ethnic group White

P
age 27

https://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/chime/


   
 

Page 8 of 47 
 

leaders10. In Chapter 2 and Chapter 3 we will explore some of the excellent work of our external partners and local authorities recognising their continued 

efforts to overcome these barriers to vaccine uptake.  

Figure 2:  Number of confirmed cases in WMCA from November 2020 to January 2022 per ethnic group 

 

Source: Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer Dashboard.  

 
10 Factors influencing COVID-19 vaccine uptake among minority ethnic group (2020) ethnicity sub-group of the Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies (SAGE) 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/952716/s0979-factors-influencing-vaccine-uptake-minority-ethnic-
groups.pdf  

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
C

o
n

fi
rm

ed
 C

as
es

 in
 W

M
C

A

Month

Asian or Asian British Black, Black British, Caribbean or African Mixed or multiple ethnic groups None Other ethnic group White

P
age 28

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/952716/s0979-factors-influencing-vaccine-uptake-minority-ethnic-groups.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/952716/s0979-factors-influencing-vaccine-uptake-minority-ethnic-groups.pdf


   
 

Page 9 of 47 
 

The number of confirmed Covid-19 cases was highest in the month of January 2022 among White British ethnic group. Between November 2020 and 

January 2022, the WMCA saw a rate of 25,543 per 100,000 population confirmed cases11. This is similar to the national average case rate of 24,906 per 

100,000 population during this period.  

 
11 Rate of Confirmed Covid-19 cases per 100,000 population is calculated by dividing confirmed cases from Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer Dashboard with ONS 
mid-year population estimates, 2020  

P
age 29



   
 

Page 10 of 47 
 

Figure 3: Monthly confirmed Covid-19 case rate per 100,000 ethnic group population for WMCA area from November 2020 to January 2022 

 

Source: Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer Dashboard.  

 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

5000

5500

6000

Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22

M
o
n
th

ly
 C

o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 C

o
v
id

-1
9
 c

a
s
e
 r

a
te

 p
e
r 

1
0
0
,0

0
0
 o

f 
e
th

n
ic

 
g
ro

u
p
 p

o
p
u
la

ti
o
n
 

Month

White Asian or Asian British

Black, Black British, Caribbean or African Mixed or multiple ethnic groups

Other ethnic group

P
age 30



   
 

Page 11 of 47 
 

However, when population size of each ethnic group is adjusted for, case rates between ethnic groups start to differ12. From November 2020 to May 2021, 

monthly confirmed Covid-19 case rates were highest in Asian or Asian British ethnic group. During June, August and December 2021, monthly confirmed 

Covid-19 case rates were highest in Black, Black British, Caribbean or African ethnic group. Following the spread of Omicron variant from November 2021, 

cases rates peaked among White ethnic group.  

Figure 4: Number of Covid-cases for WMCA area from November 2020 to January 2022 per deprivation decile  

 

 
12 Rate of monthly confirmed cases per 100,000 ethnic group population is calculated by dividing monthly number of cases for each ethnic group by total population 
estimate for each ethnic group 2020 modelled data. Source: ETHPOP projections which are used in the OHID CHIME tool. These were produced for OHID by Philip Rees and 
Paul Norman in the School of Geography, University of Leeds.  
 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22

C
a
s
e
 N

u
m

b
e
r

Month

1 -most deprived 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 -least deprived

P
age 31

https://reshare.ukdataservice.ac.uk/852508/


   
 

Page 12 of 47 
 

Source: Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer Dashboard.  

The  number of Covid-19 -cases for WMCA area from November 2020 to January 2022 has followed the pattern of deprivation. This means that areas with 

the highest levels of deprivation have also experienced the highest levels of Covid confirmed cases.  

Figure 5: Covid-related death rate for WMCA area from November 2020 to January 2022 

 

Source: Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer Dashboard 

The Covid-19 related death rate reached its peak in January 2021 for WMCA. There were approximately 300.25 deaths in every 100,000 residents. There 

was a total rate of 295 Covid-related deaths per 100,000 population for WMCA between November 2020 and January 202213. This was higher than the 

national average of 239 Covid-related deaths per 100,000 population during this period.  

 

 
13 Rate of Covid-19 related deaths: The number of deaths was from Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer Dashboard. The rate is calculated by dividing Covid-19 related 
deaths from Covid-19 Situational Awareness Explorer Dashboard with ONS mid-year population estimates, 2020    

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Jul-21 Aug-21 Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22

P
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 p
er

 1
0

0
,0

0
0

Month

Rate of deaths within 28 days of Covid-19 for WMCA

P
age 32



   
 

Page 13 of 47 
 

Whilst we have seen that vaccine uptake has increased across all broad main ethnic groups in West Midlands region, there has been variation in uptake 

between White ethnic group and Mixed or multiple and Black ethnic groups. We have seen a higher number of overall Covid-19 case rates in WMCA in 

White ethnic group from November 2020 to January 2021. However, during certain points during this period, Asian, Black and White ethnic groups have all 

seen higher case rates as a proportion of their ethnic group population. Demonstrating the changing picture of ethnic inequalities over the course of the 

pandemic, we have seen that the areas with the highest levels of deprivation within WMCA have experienced the highest levels of Covid-19 confirmed 

cases. We know that areas with higher levels of deprivation have a higher proportion of residents from an ethnic minority group and, in turn, face 

challenges around occupation, household composition, living arrangements, and pre-existing health conditions, which impact upon the risk of infection and 

adverse outcome of Covid-1914. Therefore, despite the pattern of ethnic inequalities being a moving picture over the various stages of the pandemic, the 

pattern of deprivation we saw at the beginning of the pandemic has persisted, even after vaccine success.

 
14 “Ethnic differences in covid-19 death rates” (2022) BMJ 2022;376:o427 https://www.bmj.com/content/376/bmj.o427?fbclid=IwAR0EPwX1EWCly-9Ly-
8uZP3MnEVYHDr6B9zFGo5MD1zF-fJgQ9c4TwKoUMs  
 

P
age 33

https://www.bmj.com/content/376/bmj.o427?fbclid=IwAR0EPwX1EWCly-9Ly-8uZP3MnEVYHDr6B9zFGo5MD1zF-fJgQ9c4TwKoUMs
https://www.bmj.com/content/376/bmj.o427?fbclid=IwAR0EPwX1EWCly-9Ly-8uZP3MnEVYHDr6B9zFGo5MD1zF-fJgQ9c4TwKoUMs


   
 

Page 14 of 47 
 

2.2. The continued impact of Covid-19 
As the HOTR report 2020 detailed, the wider impact of Covid-19 on mental health was profound, and 

it continues to be. Much of this emanates from the negative impact of Covid-19 on wider economic 

and social factors that, in turn, negatively impact mental health. It is pertinent to capture these 

emerging trends and issues, even if robust data reflecting this situation is itself still emerging, as set 

out below.  

General trends in mental health 
The Office of Health Improvement and Disparities (OHID) keep a running surveillance report on 

mental health and wellbeing from which we can detect trends that have emerged over the duration 

of Covid-19 so far, including how early responses and inclinations changed with Covid-19 

developments i.e. new dominant waves and iterations or restrictions and lockdowns, or simply the 

length of time that this pandemic has persisted. There are undoubtedly time lags in the lived 

experience of these impacts as well as inevitable lags in capturing them in robust research, though 

we can extract the following from OHID’s surveillance report15:  

• Multiple studies revealed deteriorations in mental health and wellbeing between March and 

May 2020, followed by a period of improvement through July, August and September 2020 

to a point where levels were comparable to before the pandemic. There was a second 

deterioration in population mental health and wellbeing between October 2020 and 

February 2021, followed by another period of recovery but not to pre-pandemic levels. The 

‘up and down’ nature of these changes coincides with the periods of national lockdown and 

high COVID-19 cases followed by easing of lockdown and reducing number of cases. 

• Studies looking at mental health trajectories for individuals suggest most of the population 

retained stable and good levels of mental health during the pandemic. However, some 

groups have been more likely to experience poor or deteriorating mental health during this 

period:  

o These include women, young adults (aged between 18 and 34, depending on the 

study), adults with pre-existing mental or physical health conditions, adults 

experiencing loss of income or employment, adults in deprived neighbourhoods, 

some ethnic minority populations and those who experienced local lockdowns.  

o In addition, those who felt lonely, felt a lack of control over their lives, who found 

uncertainty difficult or who were anxious about death were also more likely to 

experience worse or deteriorating mental health.  

o However, women and young people, people with lower levels of education and 

people living with children, following initial deterioration, also reported greater 

improvements and recoveries in mental health when case numbers had fallen and 

lockdowns were eased.  

• Recent analysis of UK Household Longitudinal Study (UKHLS) data between April 2020 and 

May 2021 found a larger proportion of the population experienced psychological distress 

than previous estimates suggest.  

o Around two fifths of the population experienced severely elevated risks of distress 

during the pandemic, with 8% reporting an initial increase followed by a quick 

 
15 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report; 
NB. findings have been selected from this national report based on: their pertinence to the West Midlands’ 
population and circumstances; their explicit reference to changes over time, thereby providing additional 
insight to the scene set out in the HOTR 2020; and their relative robustness i.e. the multiplicity of studies 
supporting the headline findings.  

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report


   
 

Page 15 of 47 
 

recovery, 14.8% experiencing persistently elevated risks, and 24% experienced 

mildly elevated distress and then recovery in the first wave, then greater increases 

in the second wave.  

o This suggests that some groups may experience increasing mental distress from 

cumulative pandemic waves. Long-term distress was highest among younger people, 

women, people living without a partner, those who had no work or lost income, and 

those with previous health conditions or Covid-19 symptoms. 

• Experiences of anxiety, depression, loneliness or mental distress may be linked with changes 

in lifestyle and adopting coping behaviours. Studies exploring these behaviours suggest 

some association between experiencing mental distress during the pandemic and changes in 

diet or eating behaviours, exercise, alcohol16 use and sleep.  

• Women were more likely to have made larger adjustments to manage housework and 

childcare during the first lockdown than men. These adjustments were associated with 

increased distress. Women also reported having more close friends and a larger subsequent 

increase in loneliness than men during the first national lockdown.  

• There is mixed evidence about the impact of the pandemic on mental health and wellbeing 

by ethnicity. The associations between ethnicity and mental health during the pandemic are 

influenced by other factors, such as employment and income protection, community, gender 

and deprivation. Many population-based studies do not have sufficient ethnic minority 

respondents to enable a detailed look at experiences and outcomes of specific ethnic 

groups. 

The impacts of wider determinants on mental health 
The final point above and aspects of a number of the other findings point squarely to an increased 

impact of the wider determinants of health. The fact that a range of other, technically separate but 

intrinsically linked, factors play a profound role in health was comprehensively captured in the HOTR 

2020 report, so it need not be repeated here. However, it is pertinent to explore developments 

across the wider determinants of health, particularly those innately linked to the economy, over the 

last 18 months of the pandemic. The restrictions and lockdowns that were put in place to manage 

the spread of infection had an immediate and direct impact on people’s jobs and incomes. This was 

mitigated to some extent through the Government’s Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (‘furlough’) 

and a £20 per week ‘top-up’ to Universal Credit (UC)17 while businesses were grappling with both the 

immediate impacts and wider, longer-term issues, which are now coming to the fore.  

Although not yet encompassing the current picture, the (ongoing) Covid-19 mental health and 

wellbeing surveillance review has distilled that:  

• Unemployed adults and those with lower incomes have reported higher levels of 

psychological distress, anxiety, depression and loneliness during the pandemic than adults 

with higher incomes (NB. there is mixed evidence about whether this gap has changed since 

before the pandemic).  

 
16 In its annual data release on the topic, the ONS reported a sharp rise - the sharpest, nationally - of alcohol-

specific deaths in the West Midlands 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/alcoh

olrelateddeathsintheunitedkingdom/registeredin2020#factors-that-could-be-associated-with-the-2020-

increase-in-alcohol-specific-deaths  
17 NB. The furlough scheme was brought to a close at the end of September 2021 and the UC top-up in 
October 2021.   

Page 35

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/alcoholrelateddeathsintheunitedkingdom/registeredin2020#factors-that-could-be-associated-with-the-2020-increase-in-alcohol-specific-deaths
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/alcoholrelateddeathsintheunitedkingdom/registeredin2020#factors-that-could-be-associated-with-the-2020-increase-in-alcohol-specific-deaths
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/alcoholrelateddeathsintheunitedkingdom/registeredin2020#factors-that-could-be-associated-with-the-2020-increase-in-alcohol-specific-deaths


   
 

Page 16 of 47 
 

• Loss of income and employment has been associated with worsening mental health during 

the pandemic. On average, any connection to a job or income (even if reduced compared to 

before the pandemic) has been better for mental health and wellbeing than none. 

• Furlough has protected mental health among people with long-term insecure jobs. On 

average, furloughed workers in long-term insecure jobs before and during the first national 

lockdown reported no increase in mental distress, unlike counterparts who had not been 

furloughed. 

• On the other hand, those who sought help from self-employment support schemes and 

Universal Credit to cover losses in income experienced comparably large and sustained 

increases in mental distress during the pandemic. 

The furlough scheme was generally considered to be a success, having reportedly supported 

approximately 12 million jobs, and unemployment did not consequently reach the levels initially 

predicted18. Also unpredictable was a curious phenomenon now being labelled the ‘Great 

Resignation’ – despite the labour market having been relatively well protected, there are now record 

numbers of vacancies, meaning people are choosing not to work, and this is despite the highest 

wage rises for a decade. The intricacies of this trend as well as the potential future impact of this on 

mental health and overall health will be important to understand, as will the impact on health 

inequalities because it is likely to be an uneven picture across different socio-economic groups.  

A snapshot of today’s lived experience for significant sections of society, nationally, would show a 

‘cost of living crisis’. This follows what was reported as a ‘supply chain crisis’ in late 2021, which was 

an apparently global issue that resulted in a shorter supply of food19 with a consequent rise in costs. 

Some commentators have drawn attention to this supply chain issue being related to or, at least 

exacerbated by, the UK’s exit from the European Union and its ramifications on supply chains as well 

as labour shortages in the food and drink sectors (such as haulage, warehousing, hospitality and 

meat production). This increased cost of food has contributed to a significant rise in inflation; the 

official inflation rate has now reached 5.5% (January 2021), which is a 30-year high20.     

Combined with this, several emerging issues will likely impact mental and physical health in the 

immediate term:   

• People claiming UC have been calculated to be five times more likely to experience food 

insecurity than those not claiming, which could be exacerbated by the withdrawal of the UC 

top-up21.  

• A nine-fold rise in wholesale energy costs coupled with a 12% increase to the level at which 

energy prices are capped is pushing significant numbers into ‘fuel poverty’ and also 

contributing to the rise in inflation22.  

 
18 https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/the-furlough-scheme-one-year-on/; 
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/examining-the-end-of-the-furlough-scheme/  
19 NB. There were other supply shortages, but food is particularly noteworthy with regards to health.  
20 It is noteworthy that the wage rises previously referred to are still below the level of inflation.  
21 https://foodfoundation.org.uk/press-release/new-data-shows-food-insecurity-major-challenge-levelling-
agenda ; https://foodfoundation.org.uk/initiatives/food-insecurity-tracking  
22 https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/rising-energy-costs-the-impact-on-households-pensioners-and-those-on-
low-incomes/  

Page 36

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/the-furlough-scheme-one-year-on/
https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/examining-the-end-of-the-furlough-scheme/
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/press-release/new-data-shows-food-insecurity-major-challenge-levelling-agenda
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/press-release/new-data-shows-food-insecurity-major-challenge-levelling-agenda
https://foodfoundation.org.uk/initiatives/food-insecurity-tracking
https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/rising-energy-costs-the-impact-on-households-pensioners-and-those-on-low-incomes/
https://lordslibrary.parliament.uk/rising-energy-costs-the-impact-on-households-pensioners-and-those-on-low-incomes/


   
 

Page 17 of 47 
 

• Having already seen a rise from 0.7% in 2019 to 1.5% in 2020, the number of households 

considered to be ‘in destitution’ has been projected to rise by 30% due to an increase in the 

rate of National Insurance alongside food insecurity and fuel poverty23.  

Evidently, beyond the fact of a highly infectious and potentially fatal pandemic itself being a source 

of anxiety, the circumstances around it can themselves evolve into health risks. Furthermore, each 

set of problematic circumstances are unlikely to transpire in isolation, especially for the most 

deprived segments of society. Issues compound one another, which exacerbates the overall impact. 

Correlate with this the impact of discrimination experienced – over generations – from being of 

Black, Asian or minority ethnic heritage, and potentially again layer onto this the experience of 

identifying with another characteristic protected under the Equality Act 2010 (or intersecting with 

multiple) and we begin to understand the cumulative impact of socio-economic deprivation and 

structural inequalities.  

 

2.3. The institutional landscape 
 The brief insight presented here is a reminder that the significant health inequalities highlighted in 

the 2020 report have not dissipated and are, in fact, on a trajectory to widen. It is important then, 

that we as a region, and the WMCA as an institution, continue to work to address these inequalities. 

Since the HOTR 2020 report, we have continued to work with health and care system partners by 

joining strategic conversations, Commissions and Boards as key stakeholders and to act as a regional 

voice on health inequalities. We have widened the WMCA Wellbeing Board to include 

representation from more system partners24 alongside elected members from the WMCA’s seven 

constituent local authorities. In addition, the HOTR Roundtable has evolved from a forum for 

engagement with the community that receives updates and gives opinions, to one that now has an 

independently led Core Group that acts as an operational sub-group that reports into the WMCA 

Wellbeing Board.  

The HOTR 2020 report reset the narrative around the WMCA’s role in the health and care system 

and, through the ongoing development of relationships within a wider context of institutional 

evolution, it has become clear that a sharpened focus on the second of the challenges set in the 

HOTR report – reducing health inequalities through tackling the wider determinants of health – is 

where the WMCA can best add value to the system and, ultimately, to the residents of the West 

Midlands.  

We have therefore reshaped our strategy to focus on the following priorities:  

▪ Using WMCA’s core functions to galvanise action to ensure all economic investment in 

the region supports better health outcomes; 

▪ Work with partners to attract funding from government and provide a regional voice on 

health inequalities; 

▪ Work with partners to maximise the economic opportunities created by the West 

Midlands health and care economy; 

 
23 National Institute of Economic and Social Research (NIESR); “destitution” is based on the income 
components of the widely recognised JRF definition of destitution, which means going without the essentials 
that individuals need “to eat, stay warm and dry, and keep clean”.  
24 The WMCA Wellbeing Board now includes representatives from all three ICSs, OHID, NHSE/I and Directors of 
Public Health. 

Page 37



   
 

Page 18 of 47 
 

▪ Champion specific issues and deliver grant-funded programmes where there is the clear 

support of the Combined Authority and its partners to do so. 

There is a clear emphasis on the economy; the key challenge now is how we shape the direction 

of economic recovery to align with improvements in health outcomes. Practically, that means 

using our leverage in areas of devolved responsibility to generate improvements through the 

wider determinants of health, which first means embedding an understanding of health in all 

policies. ‘Health in All Policies’ (HiAP) is defined as “an approach to public policies across sectors 

that systematically takes into account the health implications of decisions, seeks synergies, and 

avoids harmful impacts in order to improve population health and health equity”25. Taking a 

HiAP approach will enable WMCA to put health inequalities at the heart of decision making 

across the wider determinants of health and enable progress on the priorities set out above.  

In parallel with these developments, there has been large scale change in the wider health and 

care landscape. Public Health England ceased to exist on the 1st October 2021, and has been 

replaced with three distinct but inter-related Public Health functions:  

• United Kingdom Health Security Agency (UKSHA), which will plan for the risk of future 

infectious disease pandemic and other major health threats;  

• Department of Health and Social Care’s Office of Health Improvement and Disparities 

(OHID), focusing on improving the nation’s health so that everyone can expect to live 

more years of life in good health and on levelling up health disparities, working 

alongside the Chief Medical Officer; while   

• the regional healthcare public health function is now part of NHS England and 

Improvement, continuing to place health inequalities and prevention at the forefront of 

decisions relating to NHS service delivery, design, and provision. 

Significant change is also underway at a local level in terms of working together to improve 

health and social care through integration. The plans by the Department of Health and Social 

Care were accelerated as a result of the pandemic to support the system to recover and reform 

and included the formation of Integrated Care Systems (ICS). ICS’s are governed by Integrated 

Care Partnerships (ICPs), which set system wide strategy, and Integrated Care Boards (ICBs), 

which are responsible for the NHS system performance (see image below). ICS’s are 

partnerships between the organisations that meet health and care needs across an area to 

coordinate services and plan in a way that improves population health and reduces inequalities 

between different groups as part of a place-based approach with decisions affecting citizens 

being taking as close to the citizens as possible.  

   

 
25 WHO 2013 

Page 38



   
 

Page 19 of 47 
 

 

Source: The Kings Fund 2021 

Furthermore, the long-awaited ‘Levelling UP’ White Paper was published on the 2nd February 

2022, following a £4 billion Levelling Up Fund announced in the Government’s November 2020 

spending review and a longer-standing (pre-pandemic) narrative around mainly the inter-

regional disparities in the UK. The Levelling Up White Paper has four policy objectives:  

I. Boost productivity, pay, jobs and living standards by growing the private sector, 

especially in those places where they are lagging.  Focus areas are living standards, 

research and development, transport and infrastructure, digital connectivity.  

II. Spread opportunities and improve public services, especially in those places where 

they are the weakest.  Focus areas include education, skills, health, and wellbeing.  

III. Restore a sense of community, local pride and belonging, especially in those places 

where they have been lost.  Focus areas include pride in place, housing, and crime. 

IV. Empower local leaders and communities, especially in those places lacking local 

agency.  The key focus area within this theme is local leadership. 

Aligned to these are 12 missions, one specifically on health and another specifically on 

wellbeing. In terms of health, the paper sets out a headline metric of reducing the gap in Health 

Life Expectancy (HLE) between local areas by 2030 and raising HLE by five years by 2035, and it 

identifies a range of associated policies (not all of which are necessarily new). With regards to 

wellbeing, a reduced gap and an overall improvement are also set out as general aims, while the 

policies are yet to be defined. It is understood that a White Paper on Disparities, expected to 

focus on the prevention of disparities by ethnicity, socio-economic background and geography, 

will provide further details when it is published later in 2022.  

 

  

Page 39



   
 

Page 20 of 47 
 

Chapter 3: Action on Community-Centred Commitments from Across 

the Region 
This section draws upon the activity of some of our partners within the health and care system who 

have been working hard to tackle the challenges impacting upon health inequalities in the region. 

The role of universities, the police, organisations taking community-centred approaches and NHS 

services will be reflected upon as an opportunity to bring to life and showcase the breadth of work in 

our region. This section will refer to the four key challenge areas for action identified in the HOTR 

2020 report as touchpoints and also give mention to some of the commitments to action made in 

that report. Notably, there are range of key partner organisations that are not captured in this 

section but have been working hard to tackle health inequalities in the region. For example, NHSEI 

Midlands, the NHS Integrated Care Systems, Office for Health Improvement and Disparities, West 

Midlands Fire Service and many more. Our partners have worked above and beyond those initial 

commitments and have been responding to the evolving scene and growing need in the region. 

Please refer to the appendix for a progress update on the 50+ commitments made across our region’s 

health and care/wellbeing system.  

 

3.1. Aston University: Demonstrating the role that universities can play 
As major institutions within the region, universities have a role to play in tackling the region’s health 

inequalities, for example, by collaborating with public bodies, private and voluntary sector 

organisations on health improvement initiatives or improving their social value to support their local 

community’s health and wellbeing through workforce development. Aston University is used here as 

a case study to bring to life some of this work in the region.  

Aston University has been committed to improving the representation, progression and success of 

minority ethnic staff and students within higher education. By joining the Race Equality Charter, the 

University has been working through its framework to systematically identify and self-reflect on 

institutional and cultural barriers standing in the way of Black, Asian and minority ethnic staff and 

students. In response, the University has been developing initiatives and solutions for action. They 

are working towards obtaining their Bronze Race Equality Charter award.  

The University has been exploring their role in widening access to health and care for the community 

that they sit within. They would like to develop a Health Hub at Aston that would be open to the 

local community and have been prioritising engaging with communities in the planning stage. They 

have been undertaking listening events to share local views and experiences of access to health and 

care in order to develop the Health Hub so that is serves the local community.  

Aston University has been working in partnership with Aston Villa Foundation (and supported by 

Essilor) to go into local schools to deliver workshops about eye health, conduct eye screening and 

eye tests for those that need it in low-income communities. They collaborated with local 

organisation to listen to communities to understand barriers faced in relation to eye health and 

factored these into the Villa Vision programme. As of January 2022, they have been able to engage 

with around 4500 individuals in various capacities to help raise awareness around the importance of 

eye health. Within schools, this includes: 

• Over 2200 children receiving the Villa Vision workshop across 30 schools 

• Almost 1800 children having a vision and colour vision screening check in local primary 

schools 

Page 40



   
 

Page 21 of 47 
 

• Approximately 280 children (around 16%) being flagged for further investigation.  

• Around 100 fully comprehensive eye tests being conducted at schools using the Villa Vision 

eyecare van 

• Nearly 120 pairs of glasses being provided to children requiring them, helping to support 

both their educational and social development  

Aston University and Aston Villa Foundation have also been working with children and parents on 
childhood eating habits to encourage healthy eating habits and enable healthy choices. The 
University has been exploring the role of food and health through its research, for example social 
media ‘likes’ are found to positively influence healthy food choices and children who watch smiling 
adults eat vegetables consume more than double the amount themselves. To explore and promote 
how a healthy food economy might operate in an area faced with multiple levels of inequalities, the 
University undertook research in partnership with Birmingham City Council on family food 
purchasing in East Birmingham26. The research identified opportunity barriers to healthy food 
purchasing but also the opportunities provided by healthy eating. The recommendations suggest 
that future interventions are not limited to educational and financial support but also focus upon 
motivational aspects of healthy food purchasing such as enjoyment, indulgence, and social bonding.  
 

3.2. The WM Police and Crime Commissioner: Policing and tackling health inequalities 
There is an established shared purpose for policing and health improvement27, for example, by 

promoting proactive prevention, working with partner organisations to problem-solve, create 

cohesive communities, improve data-sharing, and promote evidence-based practice. Action led by 

the West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) shares this approach through their work on 

tackling health inequalities.  

The WMPCC is prioritising building trust and strong relationships through working to look more like 

the people they serve with a target of recruiting 1,000 minority ethnic officers by 2025. Various 

initiatives have been taking place to increase the diversity of the Force and are already starting to 

see an increase in representation. Initiatives include data driven decision making, targeted 

advertising, intensive qualification support and maximising internal support. They have held 

successful recruitment events within specific locations to target underrepresented groups such as 

Perry Barr.   

Supporting young people is critical to preventing and reducing crime through diverting young people 

away from crime and into employment28,29￼. As part of this work, the PCC continues to increase the 

number of police cadets to support young people and reduce inequalities they experience in tackling 

the wider determinants of health. The scheme fosters self-confidence and community engagement 

with policing. It gives children and young people valuable skills and experience, and some will be 

police officers of the future. The PCC has committed to increase the size of the West Midlands Police 

 
26  East Birmingham Family Food purchasing project: A qualitative analysis (2021) Aston University and 
Birmingham City Council  
27 World Health Organisation “Public Health Approaches to Policing in the UK” https://glepha.com/call-for-
submissions-public-health-approaches-to-policing-in-the-united-kingdom/ 
28 Police and Public Health Innovation in practice: an overview of collaboration across England (2016) Public 
Health England 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567535/
police_and_public_health_overview.pdf  
29 West Midlands Police and Crime Plan 2021-2025 https://www.westmidlands-pcc.gov.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/10/The-West-Midlands-Police-and-Crime-Plan-2021-25.pdf?x52165  

Page 41

https://glepha.com/call-for-submissions-public-health-approaches-to-policing-in-the-united-kingdom/
https://glepha.com/call-for-submissions-public-health-approaches-to-policing-in-the-united-kingdom/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567535/police_and_public_health_overview.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/567535/police_and_public_health_overview.pdf
https://www.westmidlands-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/The-West-Midlands-Police-and-Crime-Plan-2021-25.pdf?x52165
https://www.westmidlands-pcc.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/The-West-Midlands-Police-and-Crime-Plan-2021-25.pdf?x52165


   
 

Page 22 of 47 
 

Cadets programme with an expectation the number of cadets will increase to 750- with measures for 

success in place.  

Through collaborative working, the PCC are working towards early intervention and prevention to 

tackle the challenges faced by individuals and communities. This includes focusing on reducing harm 

caused by drugs, gangs and violence. For example, violence prevention through youth work, drugs 

strategy and prioritising those at risk through rolling out units in our most diverse and challenging 

areas, focusing on young people who need the most support. 

 

3.3. The Ethnic Minority Council: Local infrastructure and equalities organisations in 

community-centred approaches 
Local infrastructure and equalities organisations within the health and wellbeing system enable the 

voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector alongside public bodies to take action on 

health inequalities. The Wolverhampton Ethnic Minority Council case study brings this to life 

through their collaboration within the regional system supporting ethnic minority and equality 

groups.  

The Ethnic Minority Council undertook a raft of work to support the Covid-19 Community 

Champions work. Community champions are community members who promote health and 

wellbeing or improve conditions in their local community30. They utilise their networks and 

experience to address barriers to engagement and improve connections between services and 

disadvantaged communities. Community champions approaches provide rich learning for reducing 

health inequalities, they have been vital to supporting the local Covid-19 response. 

The Ethnic Minority Council (EMC) facilitated engagement across community and equality groups 

focusing upon the take up of the Covid-19 vaccination, through which enhancing relations and 

partnership working between communities and public bodies.  They worked to enable those who 

may usually be unable to take part due to barriers or needs including those with disabilities, ethnic 

minority and LGBT+ groups. Action included facilitating one-to-one consultation with Community 

Champions, Media and Marketing support, Wellness Activities, Q&A sessions, PPE Gifting, 

Community outreach videos, Community photo messages, and strategic social media campaigns.  

Their Covid Champions activity provides helpful learning to understand different engagement 

techniques as they adapted their engagement approach to meet different needs. For example, 

specialist support sessions for Covid Awareness such as LGBT+, Punjabi and Urdu-speaking Ramadan. 

Q&A sessions included local specialist doctors and EMC Ambassador to discuss the Covid vaccine and 

myth busting with translated presentation slides. Another example was the use of wellness activity 

to provide Covid updates, Q&A, signposting and PPE. This meant holding events outdoors in 

community locations such as Silk Flower Arranging with the Sahali Group, Caribbean Tea Moments, 

Older Men’s Hang-out & Covid Update, Children & Young People’s Covid, Summer Samosas & Chai 

with Happy House. The focus on wellness over cultural food or activity encouraged discussions 

around the negative impact of Covid on mental wellbeing such as isolation which is damaging to 

both physical and mental health. The events were used to record community Covid messaging for 

social media with targeted distribution. This activity captures good practice for increasing the 

outreach and engagement of services to raise awareness and promote public health guidance and 

 
30 Community champions A rapid scoping review of community champion approaches for the pandemic 
response and recovery (2021) Public Health England 

Page 42



   
 

Page 23 of 47 
 

people-powered health and wellbeing within diverse range of resident groups within the West 

Midlands. EMC promoted community cohesion and a strong community spirit to help address health 

inequalities.  

Through supportive and collaborative work, the Ethnic Minority Council works across equality 

grassroots groups and statutory bodies to promote the reduction of health inequalities and 

improvement of health and wellbeing.   

 

3.4. Cysters: Specialist support from grassroots organisations in community-centred 

approaches 
Across the Voluntary, Community and Faith sector, grassroots organisations provide specialist 

support for ethnic minority and vulnerable groups to tackle specific health and wellbeing issues 

which impact upon health inequalities. This case study looking at the work of Midlands-based 

Cysters charity helps to bring this vital part of the health and wellbeing system to life.  

Cysters supports marginalised individuals and their communities with reproductive and mental 

health issues. Through their activity, they challenge the perception and narrative of marginalised 

people and their experience of illness which impacts upon the wider determinants of health such as 

education and identity. For example, Cysters partnered with the University of Birmingham in the 

Polycystic Ovaries Syndrome (PCOS) Leadership Programme and Study to improve experience of 

illness for women with PCOS. The research-based programme involves 1,000 women with a large 

proportion from an ethnic minority background to which Cysters provides support. Their grassroots 

activity contributes to the health and wellbeing of marginalised individuals and communities through 

addressing their experience and building control and resilience and, management of long-term 

illness31.  

They are committed to changing the narrative around accessing healthcare and offer peer-to-peer 

support and provide forums to discuss what may be useful when pursuing a diagnosis or asking for a 

referral. Cysters challenge the “hard to reach” narrative associated with people of colour and instead 

carve out a safe supportive space to engage with healthcare and services. They involve and 

empower marginalised individuals and communities to promote health and reduce the health 

inequalities they experience.  

The charity works to tackle barriers around access to health and care services towards an inclusive 

healthcare system. To enable this, the charity has been developing bespoke training and workshops 

focused on the need for intersectionality for inclusive healthcare. [explain intersection]. They have 

been supporting healthcare research projects with the recruitment of diverse participants, bespoke 

inclusivity training programmes and shaping research to include lived experience. Cysters has been 

tackling the widening inequality of period poverty throughout the pandemic where 3 in 10 girls has 

struggled to afford or access sanitary wear during lockdown32. As an example, provided over 6000 

menstrual products in one weekend and are supplying products to food banks, local support groups 

and the NHS. Cysters activity provides helpful examples for bottom-up grassroots activity to tackle 

health inequalities across the region.  

 
31 Health Matters: Community-centred approaches for health and wellbeing (2018) UK Health Security Agency 
https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2018/02/28/health-matters-community-centred-approaches-for-health-and-
wellbeing/   
32 Plan International (2020) https://plan-uk.org/period-poverty-in-lockdown  

Page 43

https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2018/02/28/health-matters-community-centred-approaches-for-health-and-wellbeing/
https://ukhsa.blog.gov.uk/2018/02/28/health-matters-community-centred-approaches-for-health-and-wellbeing/
https://plan-uk.org/period-poverty-in-lockdown


   
 

Page 24 of 47 
 

 

3.5. West Bromwich African Caribbean Resource Centre: Hearing voices of local 

communities in community-centred approaches  
Community organisations are able to provide support at a community level to address factors that 

protect and create health and wellbeing. This case study looking at the West Bromwich African 

Caribbean Resource Centre helps to illustrate the role of community organisations with a focus on 

hearing voices of local communities.  

The Centre undertook community-based research on the thoughts, feelings and impact of Covid-19 

and the lockdown on Black African diaspora communities in Sandwell, West Birmingham and the 

wider West Midlands33. This type of research starts with the premise of listening and providing the 

time and means for participants to express themselves. This research is not only interested in the 

answers but the reasons behind the answers. The research independence challenges community 

research that is often “done to” Black African diaspora communities and places control with the 

community group to do its own research. The process is helpful learning for other community 

organisations to conduct their own research.  

The research focused on the experience of Black African, African Caribbean, West Indian, Black 

British and dual heritage and other groups who have Black African lineage. Their work rejects and 

challenges the abbreviation for Black Asian Minority Ethnic (BAME) term. This is because it lessens 

individual experiences by amalgamating experiences together due to smaller numbers and less 

comparable social economic and political power. The research was prompted by emerging statistics 

throughout the pandemic that demonstrated racial disparities in those being hospitalised with 

Covid-19 and those dying from Covid-19 [insert reference]. As well as reported vaccine hesitancy 

amongst Black population. The research explored a better understanding of vaccine hesitancy and 

other matters relating to Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown.  

Its findings challenge the portrayal of Black people being anti-vaxxers and identified successful 

vaccine promotion through Black doctors and health professionals providing information and 

answering queries. The findings also challenge the explanation of overcrowded housing for high 

infection rates within ‘BAME’ groups which may not apply to Black African Diaspora groups. The 

research identified underlying mistrust of the wider socioeconomic political system, which can be 

linked to negative experiences of racism which is evidenced by racial inequality. The lack of 

infrastructure investment into Black African Diaspora community groups was considered to be a 

contributing factor. The reporting of racial disparities in Covid-19 deaths was considered at times to 

lack sensitivity and served to exacerbate pre-existing fear and distrust. The research indicates that 

this perpetuated barriers to engaging with public health messaging and preventative actions. The 

findings and series of recommendations have been acknowledged by the Black Country & West 

Birmingham NHS Integrated Care System.  They provide a helpful knowledge base for working to 

address health and wellbeing issues related to Covid-10 experienced by African Diaspora groups in 

the West Midlands.  

 

 
33 “Black, Covid and In Lockdown: In Our Own Words: The Findings” (2021) West Bromwich African Caribbean 
Resource Centre  

Page 44



   
 

Page 25 of 47 
 

3.6. The role of NHS in tackling health inequalities 
As mentioned above (in section 2.3), NHS Integrated Care Systems and their Boards have a major 

role to play within the system to reduce inequalities between different groups and this is reflected in 

their statutory duty to do so in terms of access to and outcomes from health services34. NHS bodies 

have a core role to play in addressing health inequalities in the way that it provides services and 

supports an increased focus on prevention and early intervention35. Yet the role of the NHS goes 

beyond the direct provision of care to creating social value for local communities. For example, the 

NHS is a significant employer, purchaser and estate owner. The NHS can help shape a place through 

impacting local socio-economic conditions and tackle the underlying drivers of poor health. The NHS 

is able to recognise its role as an anchor institution and have an impact in areas of deprivation. In 

doing so, support the government’s commitment to levelling up. Two case studies from within the 

region are drawn upon to illustrate the role of the NHS in tackling health inequalities.     

The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust: Using workforce and service development to tackle 

health inequalities 
The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust have been committed to supporting their workforce 

through their ethnic minority staff inclusion network which included a 12-month calendar of 

culturally appropriate health and wellbeing initiatives to support staff from a physical and mental 

wellbeing perspective. The network has been active with the members attending COVID vaccine 

walkabouts to promote uptake of the vaccination.  Members took part in a Covid-19 mental health 

winter webinar.  The network has invited external speakers to increase awareness of conditions that 

have a greater impact on people from the ethnic minority community and as a result highlight health 

inequalities.  They have looked at lupus and prostate cancer and plan to raise awareness about sickle 

cell and thalassaemia. 

The Trust has been working collaboratively with partners to explore how they can ensure more 

employment opportunities for local people, in particular those who have found it hard to get 

employment in the past. This work has meant 27 young people have received placements as part of 

the Kickstart programme, with 3 of these qualifying and being employed as phlebotomists.   Two 

have secured posts as trainee Clinical Support Workers, with a further 3 starting apprenticeships 

with the Trust. The trust has signed up to the Care Covenant which is a national inclusion 

programme that supports care leavers aged 16-25 to live independently with opportunities and are 

in the process of recruiting to a cohort of care worker roles for care leavers. The Trust is in active 

discussions with partners about the proposed university centre in Dudley so that local people get the 

maximum benefit and the courses offered align with our current and future workforce needs.  

Work is underway with colleagues in Dudley such as the local Council for Voluntary Service (CVS) to 

explore how to collectively make a difference to cancer outcomes, with a particular focus on parts of 

the Borough where outcomes are poorer. They organised a workshop in November 2021 for trust 

staff and local voluntary organisations to identify the barriers to accessing services. The trust is 

looking at what action can be taken quickly with a commitment to conduct deeper conversations in 

the future. This will include ensuring screening services provided by the Trust are delivered in a way 

 
34 House of Commons. Health and Care Bill Part 1 — Health service in England: integration, collaboration and 
other changes; 2021 (https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf  
35 Anchored in our community: The role of the NHS in addressing health inequalities (2020) NHS England 
https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/anchored-in-our-community-the-role-of-the-nhs-in-addressing-health-
inequalities/#:~:text=The%20NHS%20has%20a%20core,an%20increased%20focus%20on%20prevention.&text
=The%20decisions%20the%20NHS%20takes,drivers%20of%20poor%20health%20development.  

Page 45

https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/bills/cbill/58-02/0140/210140.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/anchored-in-our-community-the-role-of-the-nhs-in-addressing-health-inequalities/#:~:text=The%20NHS%20has%20a%20core,an%20increased%20focus%20on%20prevention.&text=The%20decisions%20the%20NHS%20takes,drivers%20of%20poor%20health%20development
https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/anchored-in-our-community-the-role-of-the-nhs-in-addressing-health-inequalities/#:~:text=The%20NHS%20has%20a%20core,an%20increased%20focus%20on%20prevention.&text=The%20decisions%20the%20NHS%20takes,drivers%20of%20poor%20health%20development
https://www.england.nhs.uk/blog/anchored-in-our-community-the-role-of-the-nhs-in-addressing-health-inequalities/#:~:text=The%20NHS%20has%20a%20core,an%20increased%20focus%20on%20prevention.&text=The%20decisions%20the%20NHS%20takes,drivers%20of%20poor%20health%20development


   
 

Page 26 of 47 
 

which encourages uptake from more vulnerable people and how cancer services are culturally 

sensitive and more person centred. 

 

University Hospitals Birmingham Trust: Using digital transformation to tackle health 

inequalities 
University Hospitals Birmingham Trust has been using digital transformation to reduce health 

inequalities by bringing care closer to communities. This has meant enabling people to access health 

care and information in a more accessible and a timely way through the creation of community-

based diagnostic hubs in local neighbourhoods. The Trust has been working with the WMCA on an 

evidence-based approach to locate the diagnostic hubs in areas most accessible by the people most 

underserved and most in need of care. The programme has deployed a local non-medical workforce 

to help bridge the gap between services and the communities they serve whilst providing 

employment opportunities and career progression for local people.  

The new model of care brings efficiency and personalised care is currently in place for dermatology 

and ophthalmology pathways, with ear and nose pathways due to go live in Spring 2022. There is a 

total 40 pathways planned for the future. The model allows for testing to be carried out remotely by 

non-medical workforce and escalated to clinicians for in-person care when needed. Data and 

intelligence from the patch is used to inform how the model operates across different setting and 

services.  The model is currently focused on the Birmingham and Solihull NHS Integrated Care 

System patch with scope for wider scale across the region.  

The Trust has also been using digital transformation towards early intervention in the community 

team supporting older people. For example, remote monitoring to support earlier return home for 

patients with respiratory conditions - initially for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, now 

broadening to other conditions - following a stay in hospital. And, remote digital diagnostic 

equipment is being used between ambulance crews and hospital staff, to provide specialist care in 

people’s homes which will soon to expand to community nursing staff.  

An outpatient communication platform has been implemented to allow patients to specify how they 

would like to receive communications from the Trust relating to their care. This allows for patients to 

define how they wish to engage – whether that be on paper, by phone, or digitally.  

 
  

Page 46



   
 

Page 27 of 47 
 

Chapter 4: Local Authorities: Supporting Communities to Stay Well  
In this section, our local authority partners provide examples of their Covid-19 response. Local 
Directors of Public Health and their public health teams had to innovate quickly to develop bespoke 
and tailored support to provide local health protection response, but also to keep their communities 
well. Support was wide ranging and included the communication of up to date lockdown messaging, 
encouragement for vaccination uptake as well as support to maintain mental, physical, and financial 
wellbeing, all in culturally appropriate ways. The teams have also worked to support businesses, 
schools and universities to be Covid-19 secure. They have reached out to those most at risk, working 
to reduce inequalities, and ensure the best possible outcomes for their communities during the 
pandemic. This section highlights some of the outstanding work lead by local authority Public Health 
Teams  
 
  

4.1. Birmingham City Council: Authentic Conversations During Covid   
It is well recognised that Covid-19 has disproportionately affected minority communities and in a 
global city like Birmingham this has been a core aspect of our response and it has required many 
authentic honest and open conversations over the last two years.  
  
In April 2020, Councillor Paulette Hamilton, Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, called an 
emergency meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board following concerns from local communities 
about the disproportionate impact on ethnic communities in the city. The question answered 
questions from the public about concerns and fears. It was broadcast live and at several points 
during the event the online coverage crashed due to overload. Since that meeting early in the first 
wave the Council has continued to develop and evolve our engagement with citizens and 
communities to respond to the challenge of the pandemic.  
  
During the first wave the Council commissioned the first tranche of community engagement 
partners from local community organisations to help deeper engagement with specific communities 
of identity. This was particularly crucial for communities where English wasn’t their first language. 
Working with partners like Birmingham Institute for the Deaf and Birmingham Chinese Community 
Centre we co-produced adaptions of the national messaging into culturally competent versions and 
collaborated on bi-lingual engagement events to allow citizens to ask questions in their first 
language and have them answered through a translator. As the pandemic continued to evolve, we 
worked with Aston University to develop this model of culturally competent translation further and 
it is now underpinning work to develop culturally competent physical activity guidelines as part of 
the Commonwealth Games Legacy.  
  
We have worked throughout the pandemic with the faith leaders of the city. Bringing together on a 
weekly basis for most of the first two years leads from our Masjids and our Black-led churches and 
an interfaith group. Through these meetings we co-produced faith specific guidelines and advice and 
worked together to navigate the changing landscape of guidelines and information on safe worship. 
This was supported by the wider regional faith meetings hosted by the Combined Authority Mayor 
supported by the city’s director of public health. This partnership with faith leaders has been 
particularly important as we moved into supporting the vaccination programme where their insight 
and position as key influencers in communities has been key.   
  
Building on learning from Newham Council, in the Summer of 2020 the Council launched the Covid 
Champion programme which recruited volunteers across the city to support information 
dissemination through personal and professional networks. The Champions reflect the geography of 
the city with champions in every ward and we have worked hard over the year to increase the 

Page 47



   
 

Page 28 of 47 
 

diversity of the group to reflect the diversity of our city. In the Summer of 2021, we launched 
targeted youth champions and business champions to deepen our engagement with these different 
groups. The Champions have been supported through regular webinars as well as weekly data 
briefings and we have worked with them to reflect on how testing and later vaccination worked. We 
now have over 800 champions networked into our response.  
  
Alongside this we have worked with regional and community radio and TV stations like BBC West 
Midlands, Unity FM, New Style Radio and the Sikh TV Channel, as well as supporting the wider 
community and voluntary sector through the Neighbourhood Network Scheme and Birmingham CVS 
to raise awareness and increase understanding. Our elected Members and local politicians have also 
been a key part of the information and engagement approach and have been fundamental to 
understanding the challenges of Covid in local communities across the City.  
  
At the heart of our approach has been open authentic conversations. We recognised that 
information dissemination was only part of the solution and we needed to be actively listening and 
be in a two-way dialogue with communities. Putting our Director of Public Health, and our senior 
public health team, in direct engagement with citizens, whether to weekly radio phone-ins on BBC 
West Midlands or in translator facilitated webinars, giving citizens access to facts and information 
has been key. We have been honest when the science was unclear, we have been open about the 
difficult choices being made, and we have listened and changed direction when communities told us 
the approach wasn’t working. We have worked as a City together to navigate the challenges of the 
pandemic and its inequalities.  
  
But many of these inequalities existed before Covid and they remain a challenge in our City. Now as 
we move into a phase of living with Covid we are working with these partners to develop and evolve 
these relationships into on-going engagement approaches. These partnerships and collaborations 
will underpin the delivering of our Health and Wellbeing Board strategy to Create a Bolder Healthier 
Birmingham and help us move to a better future for all our citizens at every stage of life and in every 
community across Birmingham.  
 

4.2. Coventry City Council: Community engagement the Coventry way   
In summer 2020, Coventry City Council launched a community-led response to communications and 

messaging around Covid-19 that’s seen the development of more than 320 community messengers 

across the city. They share information in the way they know works for their communities and 

neighbourhoods and provide feedback and intelligence about how it really feels on the ground in 

these extraordinary times.  The programme secured further funding from the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government to build on this approach and recruit organisations and 

community organisations to assist as community champions.   

Community messengers were recruited through existing faith, voluntary and community networks in 

the city. A series of webinars were held to provide initial advice and training and focus groups were 

held with young people to help develop specific messaging.  

A weekly news update is emailed to messengers to share with their networks. The email update is 

long and detailed, messengers pick and choose the items they would like to share. One messenger 

creates a weekly email for her neighbours and rewrites the information we provide into her style. 

Weekly webinars provide a forum for sharing and discussions for the messengers.    

Page 48



   
 

Page 29 of 47 
 

The network provides valuable feedback about what’s really going on in neighbourhoods. They tell 

us about the latest false news and disinformation that’s being shared on social media on things like 

the vaccine. It helps us make sure we’re myth-busting when we need to.  

When a walk-in test centre was set up in Foleshill, a ward with high levels of deprivation, it led to a 

backlash from the community. They thought we were stigmatising them. The decision to position a 

walk-in test centre was because of low levels of car ownership, but this hadn’t been explained. The 

feedback helped us address the problem and to explain fully.  

Alongside the messengers network, voluntary and community groups are working with the council 

to share communications. Webinars to brief community centres and places of worship are held 

when there’s a change in guidance and they are provided with regular phone advice and weekly 

update emails.  

This work is just as important as our engagement with community messengers. Community centres 

and places of worship are supporting people through these difficult times by providing social 

supermarkets and other crisis support and they’re an excellent way to get stay safe messages out as 

they are hubs in their communities.  

The true measure of success is that this is more than engagement. Our community messengers and 

the community and voluntary groups are not simply passing on messages. They are actively 

complaining to big business where they see failures, recruiting people in the network to help and the 

voluntary and community groups are peer supporting each other as well as working collectively with 

us.  We hope these benefits will continue long after the pandemic is over.  

4.3. Dudley MBC: Supporting Dudley residents to isolate  
During the pandemic Dudley residents testing positive for Covid have been assisted through isolation 

with a package of support to enable them to isolate and remain well. All residents testing positive 

were contacted by either letter, email, text message or telephone call to inform them of support 

available. One of the key areas was to support residents and their households to be able to access 

the essential supplies needed to isolate. In order to do this, residents were encouraged to access 

supplies online, or via their networks of families and friends. Where residents were unable to access 

supplies by these methods, we worked with Black Country Foodbank, set up temporary food stores 

and established a business account with a local taxi firm to ensure that emergency food parcels were 

delivered quickly throughout the week.   

Throughout the pandemic, processes were refined and improved to ensure support was available for 

all eventualities. For instance, on occasions where the contents of a standard foodbank parcel may 

not be appropriate, due to the need for specific items due to specific dietary requirements or items 

such as formula milk or nappies, alternative means of providing these items in a timely fashion were 

set up. This was achieved by creation of an Uber grocery delivery account that allowed members of 

the on-call team to be able to source a range of local providers and have the required items 

delivered in a timely fashion. These measures, underpinned by a 7 day a week on call team, ensured 

the offer of support was available to residents in a timely fashion.       

Since April 2021 on average the monthly support provided to residents who were contacted by 

telephone call can broken down as:   

• 113 residents called  

• 30 supported with financial advice  

• 5 referrals into mental health services  

Page 49



   
 

Page 30 of 47 
 

• 12 households supported with access to food supplies 

 

4.4. Sandwell MBC: Creating an army of vaccine advocates Sandwell Council were well 

placed to take action when the Government announced funding to support COVID champions.  They 

had drawn on intelligence from local contact tracing and flu vaccination uptake and were aware of 

difficulties engaging some communities, particularly some ethnic minority communities. Armed with 

intelligence around digital exclusion, car ownership, language barriers and some cultural factors that 

meant myths circulate more strongly, the team knew they needed to act quickly and had already 

established a Community Vaccination Leadership Programme by the time the government initiative 

was launched.  

They knew straight-away that they needed to harness trusted voices, it is not the Director of Public 

Health or council leader or even local doctors that are listened to, it is faith sector leaders, 

community group leaders, the local go-to guy who knows everyone in the neighbourhood. Leaders 

were recruited and trained, including faith leaders, representatives of Age UK, members of Sikh 

football team, someone form the local deaf community organisation and neighbourhood group 

members. The total number of vaccination leaders is currently 218 community members.  

Online training was provided by one of the public health nurses with input from a behaviour change 

specialist. The sessions were live and interactive sessions so leaders can ask questions and the team 

could understand the issues on the ground. A key message in the training is to create positive 

behaviours and norms by leading by example, not about lecturing. Alongside providing training, the 

council has been providing support with promotional material, such as posters, while a vaccination 

uptake grant has been set up to help community groups run their own projects.  

 “One thing this pandemic has shown me is how communities in Sandwell have come together to 

support one another.” Harmohinder Singha Bhatia  

The Healthy Sandwell team, which normally does smoking cessation and weight management 

programmes are running a phone line and following up those who have not come forward for the 

jab. There may be practical reasons, such as not being able to read the letter or needing transport, 

which can then be arranged for them, while others may have concerns about the vaccine itself. One 

of the common concerns is that people are worried that the vaccines have been rushed. The team 

are able to provide reassurance by summarising the vaccine approval process and explaining the 

rigorous testing that all vaccines undergo.    

Dr McNally is delighted with the efforts that are being made. “It is about getting everyone in the 

system playing to their strengths. We can make that happen – and I think have a significant impact 

on uptake.  We are not seeing a big difference between uptake across ethnic groups at the moment, 

so it suggests we are having an impact.” 

 

4.5. Solihull MBC: Community outreach in Solihull  
Ruth Tennant, Director of Public Health in Solihull, is typical when she says: We had been developing 

our outreach work throughout Covid. So when it came to the vaccine we could, pretty much at the 

drop of a hat, get together 200 community leaders of all sorts on a webinar, from people running 

playgroups and community centres to faith leaders, and tell them ‘this is what we know about the 

vaccine, this is how it has been developed, and why it has been done so quickly’ and do some early 

Page 50



   
 

Page 31 of 47 
 

myth-busting while encouraging them to use their networks to get the vaccine message out there 

and build trust. And that sort of infrastructure the NHS does not really have. When it came to extra 

clinics, local authorities and our teams are very good at knowing places and people and wards. So 

the potential locations that have high footfall, or to reach groups with low uptake, we could say ‘you 

should open up something here’, or for mobile vans knowing that you need to go in this car park if 

you want to get that group. So providing that sort of intelligence through to our NHS colleagues. 

People have recognised that there’s a set of skills that you’ve got to bring together across NHS and 

local government.  

 

4.6. Walsall MBC: Making Connections – A community centred approach  
The Making Connections Walsall programme began in October 2017 to tackle loneliness and social 

isolation, improve health and wellbeing, and reduce preventable use of health services and social 

care among people aged 50+ in Walsall.  

The service was co-produced by service users and community-based organisations having input into 

the design, delivery, and evaluation of the initiative.  A set of workshops throughout the life of the 

project allowed it to be shaped because on local need.  Manor Farm and other Community 

Associations were used to co-ordinate referral hubs based across Walsall who were responsible for 

supporting residents to access social activities.  Social activities, for example gardening were also 

provided by community-based organisations including Goscote Green Acres.  

As a result of Making Connections Walsall being trusted by residents as well as its reach into 

communities, the service has been used in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. It has provided 

support including the delivery of food packages and medication to some of the most vulnerable 

residents in Walsall. The hubs being embedded within communities and with support from key 

partners such as Walsall Housing Group, Walsall Fire Service, has ensured enough volunteers have 

come forward to support this work.    

Suring the height of the pandemic the hubs were supporting over 1500 residents.  

“It’s good to know that it is not just my family who care but strangers have brought me friendship 

and I feel safe” A quote from one of the service users.  

 

4.7. Wolverhampton: Wolverhampton’s Local Support System  
Wolverhampton’s Local Support System was established during the COVID-19 Pandemic, and whilst 

difficult to measure, the system likely saved hundreds of lives.  

To help protect vulnerable residents, the Council engaged with all GP surgeries in Wolverhampton to 

collate a list of 35,000 people identified as medically vulnerable. All were notified that they were at 

high risk of serious complications from coronavirus and that they could contact the ‘Local Support 

System’ for help.  

Community Hub Contact Centre: Many Council employees, for example librarians, lifeguards and 

election staff were unable to fulfil their normal duties during the coronavirus lockdown and 

volunteered to work in the Community Hub Contact Centre as Customer Service Officers answering 

helpline calls rerouted through Microsoft Teams to corporate laptops and mobile phones.  

Page 51



   
 

Page 32 of 47 
 

The Community Hub Contact Centre provided important advice via telephone and email to 8,000 

enquirers. Most callers required either a volunteer to call them regularly for a chat, as they were 

feeling alone, or a volunteer to collect their prescription or shopping. However, food shortages and 

limitations on supermarket deliveries caused by the implementation of the lockdown necessitated 

the creation of a new service area to provide food to potentially 35,000 people per week who could 

not access or afford food.  

Food distribution: Aldersley Leisure Village was deep cleaned and redesignated as a food hall to 

assemble food packages. Within days, over one hundred Council employees had registered to 

volunteer at the Food Distribution Hub. The Council also drew on the mass of external volunteers in 

Wolverhampton, from full-time nurses to furloughed brewery drivers, who have helped build and 

deliver food parcels. In total, 250 people have been trained, with a roughly even split of delivery 

drivers and warehouse production operatives. Extensive infection control procedures were 

implemented for volunteers including hand sanitiser, PPE and staggered shift times and no known 

Covid-19 transmission occurred between people on site.  

The Food Distribution Hub, which produced over 1,000,000 meals between April and June that were 

delivered to recipients shielding in their homes from coronavirus. 

  

Page 52



   
 

Page 33 of 47 
 

Chapter 5: Scope and scale: the WMCA’s Focus on the Wider DeterminantsThis section explores 

actions taken across WMCA directorates and workstreams that contribute towards health outcomes. 

Much of this relates to commitments made in the HOTR 2020 report, though we move beyond these 

to demonstrate more broadly our now sharpened focus on the wider determinants of health and how 

there is ample opportunity to embed a HiAP approach.  

It is essential here to connect with the WMCA’s work on inclusive growth and how this has developed 

since the HOTR 2020 report. Inclusive growth is defined as ‘a more deliberate and socially purposeful 

model of economic growth – measured not only by how fast or aggressive it is; but also, by how well 

it is created and shared across the whole place, and by the social and environmental outcomes it 

realises for our people’. In terms of health, this is about recognising that not everyone will have or be 

able to work towards optimal health but should still be supported to maximise their potential and 

their quality of life, and recognising that a healthy and resilient population can be a foundation of 

creating and maintaining sustainable economic growth, contributing to a virtuous cycle. Inclusive 

growth, with an inclusive economy, actively seeks to reduce existing inequalities – of health and 

wider, as determinants of health – across the life course.  

The WMCA’s Inclusive Growth Framework is a tool that has been developed to measure how well our 

economy is performing specifically in terms of the more deliberate and socially purposeful model set, 

prioritising our people and our place. It captures a reduction in health inequalities, alongside a range 

of interconnected inequalities, as one of eight fundamentals to address in driving towards inclusive 

growth (see image below).   

 

Some of the successes presented here are undoubtedly attributable to the Inclusive Growth 

Framework and the work that has happened to embed it within WMCA governance structures and 

related processes. We must now build on this to amplify the health and wellbeing fundamental, 

supporting colleagues across the WMCA with the arguments, evidence and tools they need to tackle 

health inequalities through their work, at pace and at scale.  

 

Page 53



   
 

Page 34 of 47 
 

5.1. Transport and active travel 
The WMCA holds devolved responsibility over the region’s transport infrastructure in its designation 

as the Local Transport Authority. This means it has a statutory role to co-ordinate investment to 

improve the region’s transport infrastructure and create a fully integrated, safe and secure network. 

It is also responsible for assessing and planning for the region’s future transport needs so the 

network can meet the demands of businesses and a growing population. Production, review and 

publication of the plan is a core statutory duty.  

Prior to the outbreak of Covid-19, the region had been working to a 10-year strategic transport plan 

– ‘Movement for Growth’ – due to run to 2026, but the changing requirements of residents as a 

result of the pandemic instigated a review of this plan ahead of schedule, which highlights a pro-

active and responsive commitment to people and their health-related needs. A new Local Transport 

Plan (LTP) – ‘Reimagining Transport in the West Midlands’ – is now being developed and its draft 

Core Strategy is currently open for consultation.  

The LTP aims to balance the need to provide access with the harmful impacts that transport can 

have on people and places in order to develop a transport system that is fair for everyone. It ensures 

the region’s transport infrastructure better supports residents’ daily lives now as well as leaving a 

better legacy for the future. It proposes a new vision for travel in the West Midlands where people 

can thrive without having to drive or own a car. 

As part of its explicit Motives for Change, the LTP includes several aspects that relate to health and 

the potential to address health inequalities in the long term:  

• Fair access – improving social mobility by improving equity of access to opportunity by 

ensuring everyone, regardless of personal circumstance, has safe, usable and affordable 

travel choices that enable them to prosper 

• Fair impacts – reducing the negative external effects of transport on people’s health and 

wellbeing by improving road safety, reducing air pollution, and reducing noise. 

• Physically active – enabling safe, convenient and accessible walking and cycling 

opportunities, to increase active travel for whole journeys or as part of journeys, which will 

improve the health, wellbeing and productivity of people today as well as leaving a healthy 

legacy for future generations 

The LTP demonstrates a comprehensive understanding of citizens’ needs:  

Page 54



   
 

Page 35 of 47 
 

 

While there is specific reference to wellbeing, every element drawn out in this infographic has an 

impact on an individual’s overall health and wellbeing.  

Health and wellbeing impacts has been assessed as part of the production of this LTP, namely 

through the Integrated Sustainability Appraisal (ISA), which includes or fulfils the requirements of a 

Health Impact Assessment (HIA) and an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) as well as a Community 

Safety Assessment (CSA) and a Sustainability Appraisal / Strategic Environmental Assessment 

(SA/SEA) though not a Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA), which was undertaken and reported 

separately.  

Evidently, it is tricky to balance a fully comprehensive and a fully integrated approach, and there are 

ongoing developments in this area. One such development is the Health Equity Assessment Tool 

(HEAT)36, which focuses attention on health inequalities. It lifts the appreciation of health and 

equity, and it integrates these elements to reveal how there are systematic, avoidable and unjust 

differences in health and wellbeing between different groups of people (i.e. health inequalities). 

Refreshed by Public Health England (as it was then) during 2019-2020, HEAT is particularly pertinent 

in the context of Covid-19 as it enables system partners to consider which groups have been 

particularly affected by the pandemic and collaboratively mitigate against any negative impacts. The 

tool has been applied to NHS Integrated Care System’s service and programme design in the region 

to account for and mitigate against the differential experience of access and delivery of services. The 

sustained use of HEAT has been supported by NHSEI Midlands Inequalities Board, Office for Health 

Improvements & Disparities and the NHS Commissioning Support Unit.  

HEAT is now being piloted in a number of transport and transport-related projects as a way of 

objectively and tangibly testing its application. This is a hugely significant – and directly impactful – 

 
36 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-equity-assessment-tool-heat  

Page 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-equity-assessment-tool-heat


   
 

Page 36 of 47 
 

part of our commitment to start embedding a HiAP approach across the WMCA. This practical tool 

opens the way to a wider and deeper understanding of the interconnected elements of health and 

health inequalities, and it encourages strategizing to mitigate against health inequalities and also 

instigate preventative measures in the longer term.  

• Transport without Barriers, funded jointly by the WMCA and Sport England, is a behaviour 

change trial testing whether a travel app will increase the confidence of disabled people and 

people with long term health conditions in using public transport 

• Cycling for Everyone aims to enable those who would otherwise not benefit from the 

existing network and infrastructure investments to take advantage of interventions to 

support confidence-building and long-term behaviour change 

• Social Prescribing of Walking and Cycling, focused on increasing patient referrals into 

walking and cycling activities, may be piloted in the region over a three-year period, funded 

by an award from the Department for Transport, depending on the results of a feasibility 

study, which is currently being developed collaboratively with HEAT centre-stage.  

 

In HOTR 2020, the WMCA committed to increase cycling from 3% to 5% of mode share by 2023 

through the delivery of the WM Cycling Charter and extending cycling and walking routes. Clearly, 

two of the projects piloting the implementation of the HEAT – Cycling for Everyone and the social 

prescribing of walking and cycling – are contributing towards this overall shift in mode share. Also, 

within the LTP, there is a clear commitment to active travel, with ‘walk and wheel’ approaches to 

travel hooked around the concept of a 15-minute neighbourhood (within a 45-minute region). By 

creating well-designed walkable and wheelable neighbourhoods with appropriate mixes of land 

uses, connected through high quality public transport, we can create more healthy, liveable 

communities.  

 

Page 56



   
 

Page 37 of 47 
 

 

 

There have already been several substantial achievements made towards making cycling a more 

accessible option and increasing the mode share of cycling:  

• We have launched West Midlands Cycle Hire – a new cycle hire scheme that will help 

increase cycling in the region, with a target of making 1,500 bikes available (10% of which 

would be e-bikes) and 170 docking stations.  

• We have launched the Starley Network – 500 miles of connected cycle routes across the 

region, named after the Starley family from Coventry, who were innovators of the modern 

cycle.  

The WMCA is working hard to expand and improve these and related schemes, and also to increase 

investment for cycling across the region.   

 

5.2. Housing and homelessness 
 

Zero Carbon Homes Charter 
The WMCA’s Housing and Land team is responsible for over £10bn investable funds and has carved 

out a strategic role in turning challenging sites into development opportunities, particularly 

identifying land for new homes, creating better places to both live and work. Focused on 

regenerating brownfield land, hundreds of acres of which have already been brought back into use, 

their collaborative leadership here removes barriers to make sure land is being used for the public 

Page 57



   
 

Page 38 of 47 
 

benefit. People, and people connected into their communities, are at the heart of this – the WMCA, 

through several taskforces involving a range of partners, ensures new homes are built close to public 

transport services and encourages schemes to employ local people and businesses whilst also 

helping our local centres thrive again.   

Sustainability is also a key driver behind work in this area, particularly through using new innovations 

to build sustainable homes and through reducing carbon emissions. There are implicit benefits to 

health aligned to these motivations and thus, for the HOTR 2020 report, a commitment was made 

around capturing tangible health outcomes in ‘zero carbon’ initiatives. The West Midlands’ Zero 

Carbon Homes Charter has since been launched (in early 2021), setting out the WMCA and its 

partners’ aspirations to deliver zero carbon homes as a long-term objective, driving zero carbon 

development and innovation, future-proofing the region’s economy and enabling our communities 

to prosper for years to come. 

This Charter sets out principles for designing and building homes fit for the future, including being:  

• Climate responsive and resilient, maximising thermal comfort, health and wellbeing; and 

• Designed for the life cycle, thereby multi-functional and flexible to residents’ changing needs 

over their lifelong occupation.  

The quality of the housing conditions described here would alone positively impact health and 

wellbeing. Overlay this with a previous achievement (in early 2020) on affordability – setting a 

localised definition of affordability at around 35% or less of the average gross earnings of the lowest 

quarter of wage earners in the local area (rather than the standard definition of around 80% of 

market value, which is still unaffordable for many) plus the stipulation that any development scheme 

receiving WMCA investment from its devolved funds must make at least 20% of the homes in their 

scheme affordable – and further social determinants of health come into play (income intersecting 

with housing or the built environment) and underline the cumulative health and wellbeing benefits.  

Also embedded within the principles of this Charter is community engagement and stewardship, 

whereby communities are meaningfully engaged throughout a project lifecycle, community 

ownership is encouraged through co-design and community-led approaches, and communities 

benefit from a stake in decentralised energy systems. There are, again, easily appreciable health 

benefits – the reduced risk of fuel poverty from the latter, for example – while there are also 

profound and long-term benefits to wellbeing and to mitigating against health inequalities through 

the social capital of community.  

Page 58



   
 

Page 39 of 47 
 

 

The WMCA is already turning plans into reality, having recently agreed a multi-million-pound 

investment package into the next phase of Port Loop – an innovative housing scheme in central 

Birmingham that will see another six acres of derelict brownfield land turned into a new waterside 

district of low carbon, energy efficient, factory-built modular homes with public and communal 

green spaces, cultural hub ‘Tubeworks’ and new spaces for walking and cycling along the nearby Old 

Main Line Canal. This will enable us to take a stride towards achieving our net-zero ambition, while 

we will also ensure that at least 20% of which will be classed as affordable in line with the WMCA 

definition.  

 

Commitment to Collaborate to Prevent and Relieve Homelessness 
Successfully meeting its HOTR 2020 commitment, the Homelessness Taskforce and Team, in 

partnership with Birmingham Voluntary Service Council (BVSC), has developed a ‘Commitment to 

Collaborate (C2C)’ toolkit – a framework to help a wide range of organisations prevent and relieve 

homelessness. 

Whilst the WMCA has no formal statutory duties, powers or resources around homelessness, the 

Homelessness Taskforce37 convened by the WMCA uses its collective resources to ‘design out’ 

homelessness. We know that people are at an increased risk of homelessness when certain factors 

 
37 The WMCA Homelessness Taskforce was established in 2017 following the mayoral election, with the aim of 

designing out homelessness. Membership includes all seven constituent local authorities, representation from 

non-constituent local authorities, key public sector agencies, voluntary, private and charitable organisations, 

working together to prevent and relieve homelessness. 

Page 59



   
 

Page 40 of 47 
 

are broken or lost, including health, work, supportive relationships, and safe, affordable 

accommodation. By identifying and addressing gaps in policies, procedures, laws, structures, 

systems and relationships, we can tackle and design out the systemic inter-related issues that cause 

or fail to prevent homelessness.  

The C2C toolkit includes information on homelessness in its widest sense and takes organisations 

through questions to consider around their contributions and omissions in designing out 

homelessness and then work through possible changes that they can make to prevent and relive 

homelessness, with examples of actions to take and blank templates to record progress. It has been 

designed to work through possible changes that could be made at the earliest opportunity, even 

when an issue is not directly linked to homelessness or easily identifiable as having a link to 

homelessness. It enables organisations to understand their contributions and omissions in designing 

out homelessness, through the angles of:  

• Universal Prevention;  

• Targeted Prevention;  

• Crisis;  

• Recovery;  

• Move-on;  

• and Settled Home. 

The toolkit has been designed to provide practical help to not only specialist organisations and their 

partners but also those with no direct link to tackling homelessness. It will help them consider how 

they can support existing projects and programmes that provide people with a secure home, steady 

job and to stay safe and healthy. While health colleagues and access to health-related interventions 

are clearly part of this picture, it is the breadth of thinking and collaboration here that is the real 

success in terms of addressing health inequalities in the round.  

 

5.3. Skills and employment 
In our HOTR 2020 report, multiple commitments were made from across the WMCA around 

employment – from skills training for access into jobs, to employer support for workforce wellbeing. 

Employment and its related socio-economic status are seen as the main drivers of social gradients in 

health, meaning it can be a root cause of health inequality38. Furthermore, as stressed by Sir Michael 

Marmot in his original review:  

“Being without work is rarely good for one’s health, but while ‘good work’ is linked to positive 

health outcomes, jobs that are insecure, low-paid and that fail to protect employees from 

stress and danger make people ill”39.  

The WMCA’s collection of Thrive programmes, inspired by Stevenson and Farmer’s ‘Thriving at 

Work’ review, together meet the brief of reducing health inequalities by supporting certain groups 

into work as well as supporting employers to support their employees’ wellbeing. Given the impact 

of Covid-19 on both employers and employees, we committed to developing and amplifying these 

 
38 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/356064/
Review5_Employment_health_inequalities.pdf  
39 Marmot et al., 2010: 68 

Page 60

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/356064/Review5_Employment_health_inequalities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/356064/Review5_Employment_health_inequalities.pdf


   
 

Page 41 of 47 
 

programmes in response to the HOTR 2020 report’s call for action, and have achieved significant 

successes over the past 18 months:    

• Thrive at Work, our programme for employers improving their own wellbeing offer and 

thereby earning our accreditation, which marks them out as an employer of choice in the 

region, developed 

o ‘Thrive at Home’ as a rapid response to employees transitioning to homeworking 

due to Covid-19 restrictions and lockdowns40 

o Foundation level as a stepping stone towards accreditation at Bronze, reflecting the 

extra support employers were needing to start their journey towards accreditation   

• Thrive into Work, our Individual Placement and Support (IPS) programme – a type of 

intensive employment support programme, integrated with the health system – developed 

and launched a series of specialist pathways focused on helping the following groups into 

employment  

o People who are homeless 

o People who are receiving treatment in lieu of a criminal conviction 

o Neuro-diverse people 

o People with a mild learning disability 

• And, finally, in line with our commitment to develop a co-designed, targeted Thrive 

programme for Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups – now with a working title of ‘Race 

to Thrive’ – colleagues are 

o Undertaking a comprehensive mapping exercise to understand similar programmes 

o And have planned a series of stakeholder engagement workshops (over April).  

Collectively, the Thrive programmes can be seen as an approach of ‘proportionate universalism’41, 

which is promoted as a way of addressing health inequalities. While Thrive at Work would set the 

(universal) bar for how employers should be supporting their staff, the Thrive into Work and Race to 

Thrive programmes would provide additional (proportionate) support for particular groups with 

relatively high need to meet if we are to address health inequalities and close the gaps in health 

outcomes.   

Fundamental to employment and access to employment is skills, or the opportunity to gain skills. 

Improving skill levels and qualifications can have a positive economic impact – it has been estimated 

that the lifetime return on investment of Level 1 courses for those aged 19-24 is £21.60 for every £1 

invested – and adult learning can itself have indirect health benefits by improving social capital and 

connectedness as well as general health behaviours42. There is therefore significant opportunity to 

improve health outcomes through the WMCA’s role in adult education.   

The WMCA holds devolved responsibility over the region’s Adult Education Budget (AEB), amounting 

to approximately £130m per year. A smaller proportion of this budget is used to support Adult 

Community Learning (ACL) provision via our constituent local authorities, and the majority of 

 
40 This has since been retired as a separate ‘product’ given our collective transition to a ‘new normal’ and 
resources are being integrated into Thrive at Work’s toolkit as revisions take account of the changing 
landscape.  
41 As set out in the HOTR 2020 report, proportionate universalism is fundamental to Marmot principles, 
balancing universal action on the wider determinants of health with targeted intervention to actively close the 
health and wealth gap and improve the health of the most disadvantaged fastest. 
42 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/356063/
Review4_Adult_learning_health_inequalities.pdf  

Page 61

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/356063/Review4_Adult_learning_health_inequalities.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/356063/Review4_Adult_learning_health_inequalities.pdf


   
 

Page 42 of 47 
 

funding is used to commission provision from the Further Education (FE) sector against statutory 

obligations and regional priorities. The AEB funds residents’ statutory entitlement, which includes 

basic English, maths and digital skills and a first full qualification at Level 2 or 3, as well as a range of 

provision aligned to regional priorities based on current skills gaps and projected future need in 

priority growth sectors4344.  

The WMCA has taken strides in shaping AEB-funded provision to meet regional needs. And this skills 

provision is critical in addressing inequalities. Participation data regularly shows that a significant 

proportion – in fact, a majority (approximately 65%) – of those enrolled on AEB-funded courses are 

from a minority ethnic background. This reflects an ‘over-representation’ of this group, relative to 

the regional population. In turn, however, this also reflects structural inequalities more broadly as it 

demonstrates the over-representation of people from ethnic minority groups in the brackets of need 

for FE provision i.e. from relatively deprived backgrounds and with relatively low skills they want to 

enhance or with competing demands (jobs, childcare responsibilities) that means they need the 

flexibility of course delivery that colleges are particularly strong in providing.    

As Covid-19 and the Black Lives Matter movement coincided to fully expose these structural issues, 

our colleagues in the Productivity and Skills team are examining why the relatively high 

representation of ethnic minority groups in AEB participation data does not translate into the labour 

market i.e. why ethnic minority groups then have lower employment rates. This disconnect itself 

further exposes the depth of structural inequalities. The learnings here will continuously inform and 

enhance the broad range of skills and employment programmes already in place that help to address 

inequalities, and consequently help to mitigate against health inequalities.  

Specifically geared towards supporting access to jobs for under-represented groups in the 

workforce, and aligned to a priority sector projected for significant growth and therefore replete 

with opportunities for progression, our Productivity and Skills directorate have commissioned a 

range of digital bootcamps – intensive skills training programmes, mainly in higher levels skills and 

targeting specific groups, for example:  

• Tech Talent – supporting women to get into tech roles 

• Black Codher – addressing intersectionality by targeting Black women 

• Ashley Housing Group – providing training for ethnic minorities 

• Code Your Future – supporting refugees in particular  

• Cauldwell Children – focused on training for learners with special educational needs 

 

A skills and employment plan for the health and care sector has also been drawn up. Successfully 

launched in 2021, this directly responds to need in the sector, which has significant vacancy levels, 

as well as to indications that people were considering careers in this sector in response to Covid-19. 

The Health Science and Care Services Training Plan also makes direct reference to inequalities and 

the disproportionate impact of Covid-19 on ethnic minority groups; it includes a Black, Asian and 

 
43 https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2274/regional-skills-plan.pdf?_ga=2.99898462.1712453289.1644860087-
14288761.1539765837 
44 https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4827/wm-local-skills-
report.pdf?_ga=2.193368557.1712453289.1644860087-14288761.1539765837  

Page 62

https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2274/regional-skills-plan.pdf?_ga=2.99898462.1712453289.1644860087-14288761.1539765837
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/2274/regional-skills-plan.pdf?_ga=2.99898462.1712453289.1644860087-14288761.1539765837
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4827/wm-local-skills-report.pdf?_ga=2.193368557.1712453289.1644860087-14288761.1539765837
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4827/wm-local-skills-report.pdf?_ga=2.193368557.1712453289.1644860087-14288761.1539765837


   
 

Page 43 of 47 
 

Minority Ethnic Leadership Development programme as well as innovation around ESOL provision 

linked to vocational training for the care sector45.  

 

5.4. Energy and environment 
The environment in which we are born, grow, live, work and age is a key wider determinant of 

health. By contributing towards improving the environment, the work of our colleagues in TfWM 

and Housing will benefit the health of the region, as has already been set out. A key driver behind 

the environmental imperative of that transport and housing work is ‘WM2041’ – our goal and 

strategy to reach net zero carbon emissions as a region by 2041. The target position has been broken 

down into a series of five-year tranches, and the first Five Year Plan (FYP), launched in 2021, sets out 

the measurable actions that need to be carried out in order to stay on track for meeting the 

overarching target. Various aspects of the supporting plans and programmes have direct links to 

health inequalities and health outcomes:  

• The Natural Environment Plan, launched in 2021, seeks to protect, restore and enhance the 

region’s natural environment so that everybody can enjoy the benefits of the natural 

environment – benefits that will include the profound effects the natural environment can 

have on both physical and mental health. Specifically, the plan aims to ensure the everybody 

can access high quality green space within a 300m walk of their home, and the work set out 

by the plan will support the creation of 200 jobs in natural capital by 2026 (intersecting with 

another wider determinant of health). 

• The Community Green Grants programme was established following commission research 

that highlighted a considerable disparity between the amount of accessible green space per 

person across the region, from as much as 151 square meters per person in some areas and 

as little as 16 square meters in others (with a national average of 32.94 square meters per 

person). The Community Green Grants programme seeks to address this imbalance by 

providing grants totally £750,000 to regional organisations to support Natural Environment 

Plan outcomes on the ground over the next two years form its launch in early 2022.  

These plans and programmes already demonstrate alignment with a HiAP approach and with further 

co-operation we can more fully capture and amplify the positive impacts of the successful 

implementation of these plans and programmes on improving health outcomes and, hopefully, 

contribute towards closing gaps in health outcomes.  

Similar successes can be expected with regards to the WMCA’s work on energy. In this space, the 

WMCA hosts Energy Capital – the West Midlands’ smart energy innovation partnership exploring 

new models of regional energy governance and delivery. Energy Capital is made up of energy 

infrastructure providers, ambitious local authorities, academic experts and leading businesses and 

energy entrepreneurs who together work to make the West Midlands one of the most attractive 

locations to develop and deliver innovative clean energy systems and is the first point of contact for 

government, regulators, energy companies, funders and others interested in energy and 

decarbonisation across the West Midlands.  

Programmes within this workstream with clear impacts on health and health inequalities include:  

• Retrofit: As part of the FYP, we have set a regional target of delivering energy efficiency and 

low carbon heating measures into 280,000 homes by 2026 and up to 1.1 million homes by 

 
45 https://beta.wmca.org.uk/media/t4xngbob/dec21-health-science-and-care-services-brochure-v13.pdf  

Page 63

https://beta.wmca.org.uk/media/t4xngbob/dec21-health-science-and-care-services-brochure-v13.pdf


   
 

Page 44 of 47 
 

2041. Approximately £3m of the FYP delivery budget has been approved for use in retrofit 

and energy activity, and a further £3m has been brought into the region to support local 

authorities in tackling fuel poverty and retrofit scale-up. The WMCA, via Energy Capital, has 

used its convening role to support local authorities in accessing central government funding 

for domestic retrofit in low income, low energy performance homes and continues to 

support access into Sustainable Warmth and Social Housing Decarbonisation funding.   

• Net Zero Neighbourhood Demonstrators: Working towards the WM2041 target, this 

programme aims to demonstrate how low carbon energy communities can offer residents 

and attractive place to live, work and play. This programme will work with each 

neighbourhood in turn, co-investing in retrofit and low carbon heating measures on a street-

by-street or small area basis. It will take tailored approaches to community engagement that 

address householder concerns by co-designing a range of improvements and benefits for 

households and communities across tenure types.  

Whilst it will inevitably take time for these programmes to be fully implemented and targets to be 

fully met, the eventual impacts will directly address some of the key issues that were set out 

regarding the current ‘cost of living crisis’. Improving housing stock to ensure greater warmth for its 

residents will have a direct and immediate impact on physical health, whilst alleviating fuel poverty 

will undoubtedly provide relief from financial insecurity and associated anxiety.  

  

Page 64



   
 

Page 45 of 47 
 

Chapter 6: HOTR Data Hub to Support Our Next Steps 
This final section focuses specifically on data and the need for a data-driven approach to 

comprehensively address health inequalities and our next steps in this space. As we launch our HOTR 

GIS dynamic data hub, we are keenly aware of the wider picture, and our need to collaborate and co-

ordinate in order to ensure maximum utility for our overarching purpose – to tackle health 

inequalities.  

  

As was made clear at the outset, this interim report intended to capture the success stories of 

system partners in their work to address health inequalities over the past 18 months since the 

publication of the HOTR 2020 report, offering a picture of reality ‘on the ground’ rather than a 

comprehensive audit of the state of the region’s health. This was partly driven by two main 

limitations: firstly, the frequency of updates across datasets varies considerably and a significant 

proportion of the indicators have not yet been updated; and secondly, even where updated data are 

available, the reference periods within which the data were collected mostly do not correlate with 

Covid-19 and so these do not yet adequately reflect the impact of the pandemic on the datasets 

most relevant to our work.   

Clearly, both the richness of the case studies presented in this report as well as relevant, robust and 

timely quantitative data are pertinent for us to understand not only our impact, but also whether we 

are having the right impact in the right ways and in the right places to address deep-rooted 

structural inequalities. Others across the system are grappling with the same issues. NHS England 

and NHS Improvement (NHSEI) have in recent months developed the ‘Core20PLUS5’ initiative (see 

infographic below), whereby public health data is centrally held in a new NHS ‘Health Inequalities 

Improvement Dashboard’ (HIID) for data monitoring that supports efforts to reduce health 

inequalities46. The intention is that this data-focused approach will enable the prioritisation of 

energies and resources as they address health inequalities in the period 2021-2024 and contribute 

towards the Government’s overall goal of increasing healthy life expectancy by five years by 203547. 

The Department for Health and Social Care is also developing a strategy for the improved availability, 

quality and utility of health and care data in a safe, trusted and transparent way and makes clear 

reference to the digital transformation that we’ve witnessed through the pandemic48.     

 

 
46 The most deprived 20% of the national population, as determined by the national Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD), is the initiative’s ‘core’ target population; ‘plus’ captures a local focus on local inequalities; 
and the final five refers to key clinical areas prioritised in the NHS Long Term Plan. 
47 https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/core20plus5-online-engage-survey-supporting-
document-v1.pdf 
48 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-social-care-with-data-
draft  

Page 65

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/core20plus5-online-engage-survey-supporting-document-v1.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/core20plus5-online-engage-survey-supporting-document-v1.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-social-care-with-data-draft
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/data-saves-lives-reshaping-health-and-social-care-with-data-draft


   
 

Page 46 of 47 
 

 

In line with these developments, efforts have been channelled into the production of a dynamic data 

hub that will enable us to move away from a static report with a limited shelf-life. This is an online 

space, hosted by the WMCA, that collates data on all the indicators included in the original HOTR 

report, brought and automatically kept up to date. These data are geo-spatially plotted across the 

WMCA region and made available at different geographical levels, as the data allows. This tool 

effectively transforms the audience from report readers to interactive users that are enabled to 

develop data visualisations and potentially insightful correlations to assist their work.  

This project is in its first stage. In this first iteration, the HOTR data hub presents  an online, dynamic 

and interactive version of the HOTR 2020 report. With some basic functionality around additional 

data layering, it should support an evidence-based approach to targeting resources and programme 

interventions in a more agile, responsive and joined-up way. The HOTR 2020 report had collated 

data from different sources; this hub will allow the user to visualise all the data in one place in an 

interactive platform. It will also include links to original and other sources of data, allowing greater 

accessibility for users by having all resources in one place. The ambition then is to add various 

datasets that pertain to the wider determinants of health, thereby supporting a broader and deeper 

appreciation of the interconnectedness of factors, encouraging hypothetical pushing and pulling on 

the various levers available and facilitating the full utilisation of a HiAP approach.  

Beyond this, the specification of datasets, the potential pooling of other evidence and the broader 

direction of travel will be determined through our ongoing stakeholder engagement around the 

development of this product. This process will ensure that the product is of maximum value to its 

users, that it balances the availability of a full range of relevant data (and any other resources) with 

its accessibility and operability, and that it becomes established as a uniquely placed tool that 

facilitates a comprehensive, visual understanding of the correlation of wider determinants that 

cumulatively impact the health outcomes of residents across the WMCA region.  

  

Page 66



   
 

Page 47 of 47 
 

Chapter 7: Conclusion 
This report has sought to provide a record of relevant developments over the last 18 months since 

the publication of the HOTR 2020 report. Relevance, here, pertains to developments regarding 

Covid-19 as well as developments across the wider health and wellbeing system, with a focus on the 

significance of these developments for health inequalities.  

Over those past 18 months, we, as a region, have taken a stride forward in the ongoing management 

of Covid-19 through the introduction of multiple vaccines and boosters. Coupled with the relatively 

agile response to new variants, it is evident that the majority of us can learn to live with Covid-19. 

However, there are significant differences of lived experience even within that majority and, as set 

out in Chapter 2, the ramifications of the processes to manage Covid-19 on an ongoing basis are 

different for different groups of people. The lower rate of vaccine uptake by ethnic minority groups 

again demonstrates and underlines structural inequalities, and the socio-economic impact of various 

risk-management strategies (e.g. lockdown, furlough etc.) again exposes how existing inequalities 

are being exacerbated. It is clear that the central points of the HOTR 2020 report were years in the 

making and will take years to resolve.  

Towards this end, partners across the health and wellbeing system in the West Midlands are 

resourcing response, recovery and resilience efforts in ways that manifestly address health 

inequalities, and significant progress has been made to channel more concerted action into 

mitigating against health inequalities in the longer term. As evidenced in Chapter 3, major 

institutions as well as community-focused organisations in the region have put communities at the 

centre of their action on inequalities. . Chapter 4 demonstrated how local authorities continue to 

lead the frontline of response and translate all their efforts to be culturally appropriate and thereby 

maximise reach. The WMCA can add value by leveraging its devolved responsibilities related to the 

wider determinants to focus on long-term health improvements and prevention at scale, as set out 

in Chapter 5.  

Together, this demonstrates not only the commitment across the system to address these long-

standing issues, which we had already set out in the previous HOTR report, but we now have 

evidenced how much capacity there is to act, to adapt and respond, and to go above and beyond 

what was previously thought achievable even in the relatively short term. It is clear how powerful 

the system as a whole can be, and we need to continue to harness that power. If the component 

parts continue to play to their strengths and evolve together to co-ordinate efforts, then the system 

can develop its capability to take longer-term action and shift deeper-rooted issues.  

The HOTR data hub presented in Chapter 6 aims to support this co-ordination effort, enabling a 

data-driven approach to programme planning across the health and wellbeing system with reference 

to the wider determinants of health. The ability to visualise data, correlate factors and potentially 

model outcomes would undoubtedly prove useful.  The wider ambition here is to analyse were 

characteristics and factor intersect, demonstrating the multiplicity and depth of issues faced by the 

most vulnerable in the region. Using the data hub to understand more fully this cumulative impact of 

structural inequalities as well as the ways in which we can then use that understanding to sharpen 

strategy and target delivery is the key challenge to face in our next full Health of the Region Report 

due in late 2023. 

 

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

Wellbeing Board 
 

Date 

 

08 March 2022 

Report title 

 

Wellbeing Annual Performance and Forward Planning 

Portfolio Lead 

 

Isobel Seccombe,  

Accountable Chief 

Executive 

 

Laura Shoaf, Interim Chief Executive, West Midlands 

Combined Authority 

Laura.Shoaf@wmca.org.uk  

Accountable 

Employee 

 

Mubasshir Ajaz, Head of Wellbeing and Prevention 

Mubasshir.Ajaz@wmca.org.uk  

Report has been 

considered by 

 

Ed Cox, Director of Inclusive Growth & Public Service 

Reform 

Ed.Cox@wmca.org.uk 

 

 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision: 
 
The Wellbeing Board is recommended to: 
 

(1) Note the progress against the 2021/22 High Level Deliverables to date. 
(2) Identify any areas which the Board wishes to receive a more detailed report on 

progress or activity. 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 This paper reports against progress to date against the 2021/22 deliverables. 

 
2.  High Level Deliverables for 2021/22 
 

WB01 

Aim: 
Extension of Thrive-into-Work Programme 

Progress:  
- The 22/23 MOU has now been developed and Anita has submitted this to the 

WHU legal team. 

- January 2022 KPI report has been produced with referrals having increased 

by 174% and programmes starts have increased by 156%. Our new 

contract in Birmingham and Solihull is now gaining momentum with 

Page 69

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Laura.Shoaf@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Mubasshir.Ajaz@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Ed.Cox@wmca.org.uk


 
 

engagements having increased by 260% meaning they are now 140% of 

target.  Job Starts in the Black Country have hit 114% of target. 

- The team are now pursuing two new developments within the Black Country 

and BSOL ICS to develop a Fit Note Pathway/Clinic for Employment 

support and to sustain, grow and expand employment checks and offers 

through the Annual LTC Health Check.  Planning sessions to kickstart these 

projects took place this week. 
- The Thrive into Work team are hosting a visit from members of the Work and 

Health Team to discuss their IPS expansion plans leading to 2025 and to explore 

the teams ideas on future sustainability and creation of new pilot sites across the 

country. 

- March will also see a visit from Rt. Hon. Chloe Smith, Minister for Disabled People 

which will be hosted in Wolverhampton. 

- Discussions are taking place with Mark Axcel, Interim Chief Executive Designate, 

Black Country Integrated Care Board and Chair of the pending IPS Coalition to 

agree Terms of Reference and Membership.  The first meeting is scheduled to take 

place in April 2022. 

 

 
 
 

WB02 

Aim:  
Delivery of Thrive-at-Work Programme 

Progress:  
- See attached paper 

 

WB03 

Aim:  
Reconvene Mental Health Commission to identify new issues and approaches to 
Mental Health Awareness, Prevention and support in the region 

Progress:  
- An induction session for the Commission is planned for 7th April to agree 

Commission ways of working and to identify the first 2 topics for the 

Commission to initially explore.   

- The Centre for Mental Health has been commissioned to provide evidence 

support to ensure that there is clarity on what current evidence currently 

exists in respect of each topic area being explored.  This will support a clear 

focus on key lines of enquiry that can help the Commission to ‘add value’, 

building on existing local work.  

- Work continues to finalise Commission membership.  There has been open 

recruitment for ‘lay members’, with interviews and group assessments due to 

be completed by 1st March. 

- Further progress has been made to confirm arrangements for the Young 

Person’s Panel (a sub-group of the Young Combined Authority), for the 

Page 70



 
 

Citizens’ Panel (tapping into the one being set up by the WMCA Environment 

Team) and utilising the existing Include Me Panel (made up of disabled 

people, of people with long term health conditions and of carers). 

- The Mental Health Star Awards, linked to the Commission, will take place on 

23rd March.  There are awards young people (16-24), people aged over 25, 

for teams / services / organisations, for collaboration and for innovation in 

working with young people.  There has been a good number and spread of 

nominations from across the region. 

- There is communications activity planned to highlight the forthcoming 

commission, to highlight key messages arising from the previous ‘community 

listening’ exercise which sought to inform the focus of Commission work. 

 

WB04 

Aim:  
Develop and sustain a Physical Activity Programme with regional partners   

Progress:  

• Commonwealth Games Physical Activity Legacy: with local 
Commonwealth Active Communities finalising their plans to start delivery in 
the spring 2022, WMCA and Sport England continue to provide ongoing 
evaluation, citizen engagement and joint leadership support to 3 out of the 4 
areas, not the Black Country. Also, with DCMS and OHID, Birmingham CC, 
WMCA and Sport England as core partners of the legacy work, planning on 
how we work with local areas to ensure that there is a long-lasting legacy in 
reducing inequalities in those who are active beyond the initial 2-year Sport 
England funding. 

• Sport England and WMCA partnership following the end of the existing 
Sport England grant agreement and Sport England’s new “Uniting the 
Movement” strategy implementation plan initial discussions have been held 
on shaping those areas of mutual interest in relation to the WMCA Wellbeing 
Strategic Priorities. It is proposed a report on our future partnership with Sport 
England is discussed at the next Wellbeing Board meeting. 

• DfT (Department for Transport) Social Prescribing walking and cycling 
pilot bid The Strategic lead for Wellbeing and Prevention is leading the 
development of a feasibility study with the 7 Local Authorities, 3 ICS 
(Integrated Care Systems)’, NHS and community partners which will provide 
the research, governance, aims and objectives, deliverables, and budget to 
become one of Government’s social prescribing pilots. This feasibility study 
needs to be submitted to Government by 30 April 2022 with the outcome 
known in May and a potential £1.5m-£2m 3-year revenue programme. If 
successful, a paper will be brought to the next meeting outlining purpose, 
impact and governance. 

• Public Space Design Trial – with Willenhall Park in Walsall now open, this 
trial was due for completion and lessons shared with partners. Covid has 
impacted on delivery in Sandwell and Coventry and an extension has been 
granted by the WMCA and Sport England for the delivery of these projects. 

• Goodgym – the delivery in Coventry, Solihull and Warwickshire CC funded 
by the WMCA and Local Authorities continues to grow and adapt responsive 

Page 71



 
 

of local need e.g., less prescription runs to more help to communities to clear, 
paint and improve centres. Given the Local Authority and WMCA funding is 
nearing the end, the WMCA has agreed with the local authorities to transfer 
management support to Think Active, the active partnerships for the 3-area 
geography who will be responsible for connecting Goodgym to local 
opportunities and reporting on outputs and outcomes. This has no risk to the 
WMCA or Local Authorities. 

 

WB05 

Aim:  
Making WM an exemplar region for getting more disabled people active 

Progress:  

• Include Me Citizens Network and Panel - Progressing well with extensive 
consultation on the WM Mental Health Commission, Accessible Housing and 
Social Prescribing alongside determining its own priority areas. This has had 
led to a positive shift in the development of work areas. Work is ongoing to 
continue its purpose and development in 2022/23. It is proposed that the 
Citizens Network and Panel provide their vision and purpose at the next 
Wellbeing Board meeting. 

• With 92 organisations signed up to the Include Me WM Pledge we are 
reviewing the qualitative impact this commitment to being more inclusive, 
accessible, and disabled customer focused has had and plan its place as part 
of the ongoing exemplar region discussions below. 

• Travel without Barriers pilot to test whether digital prompts linked to SWIFT 
can improve disabled people's confidence in using public transport to get to 
places to be active. The pilot will be launched on 18 March 2022 in 
Wolverhampton and tested in Wolverhampton and Coventry with the learning 
applied across the WM for which we intend to report to the next Wellbeing 
Board. 

• Exemplar Region in getting more disabled people active – the WMCA is 

extending the Activity Alliance contract for the services of Mark Fosbrook and 

to shift focus from programmes to working with committed partners and 

citizens to develop the regional voice for this work setting out a shared 

2022/23 ambition, priorities, and commitments by 30 June 2022.   

• Accessible Housing Design –progress is subject to agreement with WMCA 

Housing and Regeneration Directorate on stakeholder engagement and 

potential policy opportunities and implications scheduled for March 2022. 

  

 

WB06 

Aim:  
Develop WM Health Intelligence & Data Programme 

Progress:  

• Progress continues in developing our Health of the Region data hub (as 

presented to the last Wellbeing Board meeting in January 2022). 

Page 72



 
 

• We have moved on from a ‘proof of concept’ and are now developing a 

‘minimum viable product’, which is an online version of the HOTR 2020 report 

with all indicators available and up to date.  

• This is set out in the final section of our ‘Revisiting the HOTR’ report, a draft 

of which is being submitted to the Wellbeing Board for comments and 

potential approval at this meeting (8th March). 

• Once the report is finalised and launched, we will develop the HOTR data 

hub to include indicators that reflect the wider determinants of health as they 

relate to the WMCA’s devolved responsibilities. 

• We will continue to work with stakeholders to develop the product further, 

ensuring maximum utility.   

 

WB07 

Aim:  
Develop collaborative programmes to tackle system-level Health Inequalities issues 
and embed HIAP approach in WMCA 

Progress:  

• Having secured approval for our approach at the last Wellbeing Board 

meeting (January 2022), we are now developing a resource that links specific 

public health indicators to devolved responsibilities across the WMCA.  

• Some of the early thinking and learning here is reflected in the WMCA case 

study section of the ‘Revisiting the HOTR’ report, presented to the Wellbeing 

Board today (8th March).  

• Progress continues on specific implementation projects – piloting HEAT with 

TfWM and exploring potential joined-up development of WMCA’s current 

equalities impact processes.  

 

WB08 

Aim:  
Secure and implement the Radical Health Prevention Fund 

Progress:  

− Regular meetings with DHSC continuing 
− Preparing for proposal to be considered at HMG Budget in March 2023 

− Also, exploring other avenues with DHSC to fund various aspects of RHPF, 
through the Smart City Region and/or through Remote Diagnostics work 
being undertaken in conjunction with ICS’s. 
 

 
 
 
3. Financial Implications 
 
3.1  The WMCA budget agreed in February has been built around these High-Level 

Deliverables.  There are no other direct spend or budgetary implications because of the 
recommendations within this report.  There is underspend in the budget due to being 
unable to fill vacancies. 

Page 73



 
 

 
4. Legal Implications 
 
4.1  It is a statutory requirement that the Combined Authority has an assurance framework in 

place.  The assurance framework approved by the WMCA Board on 24 July 2020 
stipulates the requirement of the Wellbeing Board to approve and monitor the deliverables 
of the portfolio. 

 
5. Equalities Implications to update 
 
5.1  This is a progress update – there are no immediate equality implications in relation to this 

report. 
 
6. Inclusive Growth Implications 
 
6.1 The Wellbeing programme is aligned to the Health & Wellbeing fundamental of the 

Inclusive Growth Framework. WB07 and its focus on reducing health inequality have been 
embedded as the headline outcome of that framework. Furthermore, the extension of 
Thrive into Work has strengthened one of the key inclusive growth policy mechanisms of 
the region by connecting it to other fundamentals of the framework – notably ‘Affordable 
and Safe Places’ – where the key outcome is designing out homelessness.   

 
7. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications 
 
7.1  The work of the Wellbeing Board applies to relevant activity across both Constituent and 

Non-constituent areas. 
 
8. Other Implications 
 
8.1  None. 
 
9. Schedule of Background Papers 
 
9.1  Linked papers at today’s Board meeting, Item 3a Update on Mental Health Commission 
and Item 3b Update on Thrive into Work. 
 
10.  Appendices 
 
10.1  None. 
 

Page 74



 
 

1 
 

 

 

Wellbeing Board 
 
Date 

 

08.03.22  

Report title 

 

Thrive at Work – update  

 

Portfolio Lead 

 

Cllr Isobel Seccombe,  

Accountable Chief 

Executive 

 

Laura Shoaf, Chief Executive, West Midlands 

Combined Authority 

Laura.Shoaf@wmca.org.uk  
  

Accountable 

Employee 

 

Jed Francique, Head of Mental Health Partnerships  

Jed.Francique@wmca.org.uk  
 

Report has been 

considered by 

 

Ed Cox, Director of Inclusive Growth & Public Service 

Reform 

Ed.Cox@wmca.org.uk 
 

Mubasshir Ajaz, Head of Wellbeing and Prevention 

Mubasshir.Ajaz@wmca.org.uk 

 

 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision: 
 
It is recommended that the Wellbeing Board:  

a) Notes the current performance and emerging impact of the Thrive at Work 

programme;  

b) Notes the programme funding position;  

c) Identifies representatives from respective constituent organisations to contribute to 

the emerging business development work, which is being undertaken to refresh the 

Thrive at Work model to respond to current circumstances and to achieve financial 

sustainability.   

 

  

Page 75

mailto:Laura.Shoaf@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Jed.Francique@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Ed.Cox@wmca.org.uk
mailto:Mubasshir.Ajaz@wmca.org.uk


 
 

2 
 

THRIVE AT WORK – UPDATE  
 

1. Purpose 
1.1 This paper provides an update on Thrive at Work in respect of: 

• Programme context; 

• Current performance and emerging impact;  

• Programme funding;  

• Emerging business development work.  

 

2. Background and context for Thrive at Work  

2.1 Thrive at work was developed and launched in 2018 to provide employers with both 

a holistic approach and a practical framework to develop workplaces that promote 

and support employee health and wellbeing.  It initially started life as a research trial 

and encompasses a series of modules, which are highlighted in a later section.   

 

2.2 Thrive at Work is free for organisations with 8+ employees, which are based in the 

Midlands.  The programme is currently fully funded through a partnership programme 

called the Mental Health & Productivity Pilot (MHPP) programme.  The overarching 

aim of MHPP is to provide resources which are effective at supporting workplace 

mental health and in turn to help to increase productivity amongst employees.  Key 

MHPP partners are indicated below: 

 
 

2.3 MHPP’s ‘tools’ to support workplace wellbeing include Thrive at Work (arguably the 

key tool) plus the ‘SLEEP’, ‘REST’ and ‘PROWORK’ research programmes, ‘Mentor’, 

the ‘Mental Health at Work’ Commitment, ‘Managing Minds’ and ‘This is Me’.   

 

2.4 MHPP receives funding from central government via the Midlands Engine.  This is 

due to cease at the end of June 2022, thereby also impacting on the funding of the 

Thrive at Work programme.  It has been acknowledged that the delivery of Thrive 

and the rest of the MHPP programme has been significantly hampered by the 

pandemic - potentially delaying progress by approximately 15 to 18 months.  As 

Page 76



 
 

3 
 

such, a funding bid has been submitted to the Department of Health & Social Care 

(DHSC) to give the programme the opportunity for recover the lost ground.  DHSC 

have been given funding options, each of which prioritise Thrive at Work, with a 

potential funding timeline until March 2024.  (A funding decision is awaited at the 

time of writing this paper, but is anticipated to be known by the time the Wellbeing 

Board meeting takes place).  

 

3. The Thrive at Work programme  

3.1 Thrive at Work is a structured comprising 5 thematic assessment areas, with a 

number of criteria – see below.  Evidence of achievement against the respective 

criteria lead to accreditation at 4 potential levels – Foundation, Bronze, Silver and 

Gold.    

 

            
 

 
  

Page 77



 
 

4 
 

 

3.2 Current performance and activities:  

• Over 500 organisations are currently signed up to the programme, with 15 new 

registrations in January;  

• 135 organisations are working towards Foundation level accreditation;  

• 40 organisations are working towards Bronze level accreditation;  

• 14 organisations are working towards Silver level accreditation. 

• 34 organisations are accredited at Foundation level – including, in January 2022, 

Dudley Lodge Safeguarding Children Services, Lincolnshire Coop and Support 

Staffordshire; 

• 35 organisations are accredited at Bronze level – including ‘Steps to Work’ in 

January 2022; 

• There were 158 new organisations engaged (i.e. actively made aware of the 

programme) in January 2022;  
 

 
 

 

Accredited 

organisations 

include: 

Page 78



 
 

5 
 

 

3.3 Case study example of programme benefits – ‘Steps to Work’ 

Steps to Work, a charity based in Walsall which has been running for over 20 years, 

were one of the very first organisations that registered to complete Thrive at Work in 

2018.  They have now achieved Bronze accreditation and are currently working 

towards Silver level accreditation.   

They have over 100 employees and provide employment support services to local 

residents that require support and additional skills to gain employment.  

Senior management is committed to the well-being of staff.  Raj Sarai, HR Manager, 

has been responsible for driving this forward alongside the Health & Wellbeing Lead, 

Ayesha Farooq, under the direction of Bhanu Dhir, CEO.  Raj, who was also 

instrumental in Steps to Work’s decision to join the programme, said ‘wellbeing is 

now part of what we do’. 

During the accreditation interviews, it became very apparent that the influence of the 

CEO, Bhanu Dhir, was significant in improving the supportive culture within the 

organisation.  Staff stated that they ‘now feel more connected’ and acknowledged 

that there was a positive shift in the culture of the organisation since Bhanu became 

CEO.   

Wellbeing meetings were introduced to support staff, as a result of Thrive at Work, 

which provided regular opportunities for line managers to ensure that the wellbeing 

needs of their staff were being regularly reviewed.  This initiative may also be 

connected to the lower rate of stress and anxiety-related employee absences now 

being reported.  

Staff are more aware and open to the importance of maintaining good mental health.  

Steps to Work, have taken many actions to continuously chip away at the stigmas 

associated with this and normalising open and honest communication within the 

workplace.    

Staff now have access to information and support to enable them to manage their 

own mental and emotional wellbeing as a result of Thrive at Work.  Steps to Work 

also offer all employees the opportunity to undertake Mental Health First Aid training. 

Bereavement sessions were also run to support employees with the increased 

bereavements that staff were experiencing as a result of the pandemic. 

Ayesha, from the charity, said, “Steps to Work are really happy and excited to have 

received the Bronze accreditation. The Thrive at Work programme has supported us 

as an employer to focus on our employees’ mental health and wellbeing. The 

programme helps to create a structure of support that can be easily implemented in 

supporting and educating employees regarding mental health, musculoskeletal and 

promoting healthy lifestyles. Since implementing the programme, we have received a 

positive response from our employees. We now hope to achieve the Silver and Gold 

accreditation.” 

Page 79



 
 

6 
 

 

 

3.4 Emerging programme impact work 

3.4.1 Whilst there is a good amount of positive qualitative case study materials, Thrive at 

Work was not originally set up in a way that systematically captured quantitative 

evidence of impact – in such terms as the workforce and financial costs of sickness 

and turnover.  A significant benefit of the programme has been enabling 

organisations to implement important wellbeing infrastructure – work is underway to 

capture more details on this.   

 

3.4.2 This ongoing need to provide evidence of impact and ‘return on investment’ for 

WMCA, for MHPP and for external funders, has led to retrospective work being 

undertaken to generate further evidence.  This will particularly focus on the 

respective journeys of organisations from their baseline signing up position to their 

position against the programme criteria at accreditation (or post-accreditation).  Work 

to further develop the Thrive at Work model will include steps to embed key ‘success 

measures’ to ensure that impact can be systematically captured and monitored.  This 

will be undertaken in conjunction with MHPP partners.   

 

3.4.3 The impact of the pandemic on organisations, e.g. in terms of sickness levels, staff 

turnover and general organisational capacity, is inevitably complicating the work to 

assess programme impact.   

 

4. Business development work and programme continuity 

4.1 Thrive at Work has been dependent on grant funding and the potential cessation of 

funding at the end of June 2022 poses a significant challenge to the programme.  

With the available programme underspend, there is the potential to extend the 

programme (and associated staffing) for a further 3 months until the end of 

September 2022.   

 

4.2 MHPP work is underway between January and June 2022, which WMCA is involved 

in, to explore opportunities to refresh the focus and revenue options for the wider 

programme.   

 

4.3 The COVID-19 pandemic has generated higher levels of awareness of the 

importance of the ‘work and health’ agenda – with challenges from sickness, 

furlough, redundancy and the transformation of working practices (including working 

from home).   

 

4.4 The latest data for the WMCA area shows that around 25% of those who are 

economically active are away from the labour market because of either short-term or 

long-term health conditions.  Alongside this, a high level of unfilled vacancies is 

creating skills and capacity shortages for employers, holding back their businesses 

and economic growth.  As such, it remains extremely important that the ‘health and 

Page 80



 
 

7 
 

work’ agenda continues to be pursued – helping economically inactive people into 

work and supporting employers to be able to retain their existing staff, supporting a 

strengthening of workplace health and well-being infrastructure and organisational 

culture.   

 

4.5 Support offers in the health and work ‘market’ have also changed since 2018, with 

new market entrants, such as offers from Investors In People and Mental Health First 

Aid England.  Also, there is a clearer focus on what constitutes ‘good work’ – a 

potential area for further consideration and activity.  

 

4.6 WMCA is has commenced business development work, in consultation with a 

number of stakeholders, to: 

a) Consider options to refresh the Thrive model to respond to current 

circumstances and ‘market needs’ and to consider which other ‘support tools’ it 

should potentially be aligned with.   

b) Consider options for Thrive at Work revenue and organisational form that would 

enable the programme to develop and be financially sustainable beyond current 

grant funding arrangements.   

 
4.7 The business development exercise will be concluded by the end of March 2022, 

generating initial proposals for consideration.  Emerging feedback from the exercise 
include:  
a) Give further consideration to the target market /markets and, therefore, give 

consideration to developing a differentiated product or products which meet the 
different needs of different organisations (reflecting organisational type, size, 
capacity, organisational maturity in respect of wellbeing issues, etc.);  
 

b) Initial market research indicates two different model options (which are not 
mutually exclusive):  

• the provision of a set of curated and freely available online resources, with 
limited support to organisations; or  

• a paid-for service with a significant level of support provided by the Thrive 
at Work team.  
 

c) Refreshing the approach to accreditation, which might feel to some as ‘all or 
nothing’, by developing a modular approach to assessing and recognising 
progress.  For instance, there can be milestones on the journey to general 
accreditation at a particular level, e.g. programme recognition of all key 
enablers being in place.   
 

d) Considering refreshing the breadth of the model to more broadly consider the 
key components of a ‘good workplace’.  This could include additional health-
related components, such as further support to employers / employees on 
neurodiversity and, also, key women’s health issues, including the menopause.   

 

Page 81



 
 

8 
 

4.8 WMCA are keen to secure further feedback in the next few weeks from key 

stakeholders, including reps from constituent organisations, to support further 

support the thinking around business development.  

 

5. Financial Implications 
5.1 There is external grant funding via MHPP which funds Thrive at Work until end of 

June 2022.  Due to programme underspend thus far, which can be used through a 

‘no cost extension’ as agreed with funders, the programme has sufficient funds to 

continue to operate for an additional 3 months until the end of September 2022.   

 

5.2 The outcome of an MHPP funding bid to the Department of Health and Social Care, 

is awaited; this would potentially provide external grant funding for Thrive at Work 

until March 2024. 

 

5.3 There is a provision in the 2022/23 Wellbeing portfolio budget to extend the 

programme through to end of March 2023, should the funding bid outlined in 5.2 not 

be successful. This however is subject to approval based on evidence of continuing 

impact and ‘return on investment’. 

 

6. Legal Implications 
6.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from the contents of this report.   
 

7. Equalities Implications  
7.1 The Thrive at Work programme seeks to support organisations, including small and 

medium sized enterprises, to create a culture and arrangements which actively 

support the health and wellbeing of employees, thereby supporting the ongoing 

development of inclusive workplaces.   

 

8. Inclusive Growth Implications 
8.1 The Thrive at Work programme has largely positive inclusive growth implications, as 

it aims to grow the assumption that work should be something that enables citizens 

to be healthy. It particularly relates to the Inclusive Economy and Health and 

Wellbeing fundamentals in this regard. This work is therefore timely, as it will ensure 

that the value of what has been delivered to date can be taken forward, in a way 

which continues to benefit employees across the region. 

 

9. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications 
9.1  The work of the Wellbeing Board applies to relevant activity across both Constituent 

and Non-constituent areas. 
 
10. Other Implications 
10.1  There are workforce implications arising from the outcome of the funding decision. 
 
 
11. Schedule of Background Papers 

Page 82



 
 

9 
 

11.1 None 
 

 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the last meeting
	Minutes

	6 Levelling Up the United Kingdom.  The Levelling Up White Paper, Health and Wellbeing Opportunities
	7 Revisiting Health of the Region Report - Draft Report
	Revisiting the Health of the Region_DRAFT

	8 Wellbeing Programmes Update
	Thrive at Work Update Wellbeing Board


